
Monday, May 1, 2023 AGENDA Page 1 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL LAND USE, HOUSING, & ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

REGULAR MEETING 

Monday, May 1, 2023 
10:00 AM 

2180 Milvia Street, 6th Floor - Redwood Room 

Committee Members: 
Councilmembers Ben Bartlett, Rigel Robinson, and Mark Humbert 

Alternate: Councilmember Kate Harrison 

This meeting will be conducted in a hybrid model with both in-person attendance and virtual 
participation. For in-person attendees, face coverings or masks that cover both the nose and the 
mouth are encouraged. If you are feeling sick, please do not attend the meeting in person. 

Remote participation by the public is available through Zoom. To access the meeting remotely 
using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device: Use URL 
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1603285918. If you do not wish for your name to appear 
on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be 
anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen. To join by phone: 
Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 160 328 5918. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 and wait to be 
recognized by the Chair.  

To submit a written communication for the Committee’s consideration and inclusion in the public 
record, email policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info. 

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Land Use, Housing, & Economic 
Development Committee by 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be 
distributed to the members of the Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of 
the official record.   

Page 1

https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1603285918
mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


   
 

Monday, May 1, 2023 AGENDA Page 2 

AGENDA 
 

Roll Call 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters 
 

Minutes for Approval 
 Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval. 

 
1.  Minutes - February 16, 2023 

 
 

 The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to 
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes. 

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council. 
 

2.  Referral to City Manager: Tenant Habitability Plan and Amendments to 
Relocation Ordinance 
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author), Councilmember Hahn (Co-Sponsor) 
Referred: October 31, 2022 
Due: May 14, 2023 
Recommendation: 1. Refer to the City Manager and City Attorney to review and 
develop proposed amendments to the Berkeley Municipal Code to require a Tenant 
Habitability Plan for major construction or renovation at tenant occupied properties. 
Proposed language modeled after the City of Los Angeles’ Tenant Habitability Plan 
requirements is attached for consideration. The City Manager should also return with 
information on the costs and staffing needs for implementation for future budget 
discussions.  
2. Refer to the City Manager and City Attorney recommendations from the 4x4 City 
Council/Rent Board Joint Committee on Housing for amendments to the City’s 
Relocation Ordinance, BMC Chapter 13.84 to strengthen and improve enforcement 
of the ordinance.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100 
  

 

Committee Action Items 

Page 2



   
 

Monday, May 1, 2023 AGENDA Page 3 

3.  Budget Referral: Study to support Housing Element commitment to increase 
housing on higher-resourced commercial avenues of Solano, North Shattuck,  
and College Avenues. 
From: Councilmember Hahn (Author), Councilmember Harrison (Co-Sponsor), 
Councilmember Taplin (Co-Sponsor) 
Referred: March 29, 2023 
Due Date: September 25, 2023 
Recommendation: Refer $250,000 to the June 2023 budget process to study and 
develop options, including but not limited to changes to zoning, 
incentives/programs/financing mechanisms, and objective design standards for 
Solano Avenue, North Shattuck, and College Avenue to:  
1. Increase housing opportunities for people of all incomes, with an emphasis on 
housing affordable to households at or below 120% of Area Median Income (AMI);  
2. Provide preferences to households previously excluded from residential areas 
served by these commercial corridors via discriminatory deed restrictions and/or 
discriminatory lending practices; 
3. Provide housing with amenities for seniors, households with children, individuals 
with disabilities, artists, and other populations with specialized housing needs; 
4. Ensure recommendations for zoning and design standards consider unique 
characteristics of each commercial area, including lot sizes and depths, availability of 
rear-access to parcels, abutting/neighboring residential zoning standards, and any 
other unique characteristics of each commercial district and its surroundings;    
5. Enhance the viability of locally-owned and neighborhood-serving commercial uses 
both during construction and over the long term, including potential reduced 
rents/right to return for existing establishments, appropriately-sized and accessible 
commercial spaces, and rent-controlled commercial spaces as a potential community 
benefit. Examples of such neighborhood serving commercial uses may change as 
retail trends develop, but could include: grocery/food stores, banks, dry cleaning and 
shoe repair, hardware stores, wellness and hair salons, restaurants and cafes, 
fitness centers, clothing and gift shops.  
Financial Implications: General Fund - $250,000 
Contact: Sophie Hahn, Councilmember, District 5, (510) 981-7150 

 
  

Committee Action Items 
 

Page 3



   
 

Monday, May 1, 2023 AGENDA Page 4 

 

 These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 
 

4.  Amending BMC Chapter 13.84 to Expand Relocation Assistance and Conflict 
Resolution for Tenants 
From: Councilmember Taplin (Author) 
Referred: February 8, 2022 
Due: July 6, 2023  
Recommendation: Adopt a first reading of an Ordinance amending Berkeley 
Municipal Code Chapter 13.84 enacting the following changes to the City’s 
Relocation Ordinance: 
1. Section 13.84.010 – Delete language referring to “Relocation Services”; 2. Section 
13.84.020 – Create definition of Emergency Relocation to establish process and 
expectation for owner to provide relocation money for emergency events; 3. Section 
13.84.030 – 1) Change title to clarify that tenants are entitled to payments when 
Relocation applies, rather than “Services or Assistance”. 2) Clarify the type of 
determination notices that parties would receive from City officials; 4. Section 
13.84.040 – Create different procedures for “Planned Relocation” and “Emergency 
Relocation”. Move “Owner Responsibilities” content to other sections; 5. Section 
13.84.050 – 1) Change title to clarify that it is about procedure and not payments. 2) 
Add Notice and Order to “Determination Notice”. 3) Move Section B and C to 
Appeals Section; 6. Section 13.84.060 – 1) Change title to clarify Relocation 
Prompted by owner. 2) Include language to indicate that Relocation can also be 
requested by owner when there is no building permit application. 3) Clarify in Section 
E that the “Owner must provide” proof of notice; 7. Section 13.84.070.A – 1) Include 
Moving and Storage to Short term Relocation entitlements if applicable to the 
situation. 2) Section 13.84.070.A.3 regarding a tenant’s ability to pay costs up front. 
3) 13.84.070.A.4.b – meal allowances. 4) 13.84.070.B.2.b – reimbursement for 
moving and storage costs changed to pay up front. 5) 13.84.070.B.3 – Changing how 
Rent Differential is calculated 6) Section 13.84.070.B.4 – Consider specifying 
different utility costs, such as disconnection and reconnection. 7) 13.84.070.N1 – 
Consider meals Per Diem rates for what is appropriate for the region. 8) Add Section 
to speak to replacement unit reservation costs and potential cancellation costs if 
move back notice is given earlier than expected; 8. Section 13.84.080 – Remove; 9. 
Section 13.84.100 1) Change Title 2) Change process for receiving notification that 
Relocation is or is not required. 3) 13.84.100.A.4 Change HAC to Hearing Officer. 3) 
Section 13.84.100.A.5 - Change appeal timeline from 5 to 10 days. 4) Section 
13.84.100.B – Change Language to mirror HAC Process outlined in 19.44.  
Financial Implications: Staff time. 
Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120 

 

Unscheduled Items 

   

Page 4



   
 

Monday, May 1, 2023 AGENDA Page 5 

5.  Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing 
From: Councilmember Taplin (Author), Councilmember Bartlett (Author) 
Referred Date: March 6, 2023 
Due Date: July 24, 2023 
Recommendation: 1. Refer to the City Manager and the Planning Commission to 
study and return to Council potential amendments to the Berkeley Municipal Code 
and General Plan to further the City of Berkeley’s goals for affirmatively furthering fair 
housing with additional incentives for affordability and ownership opportunities, 
including first-time homebuyers and households inheriting properties from relatives, 
in “Middle Housing” zoning categories. At a minimum, consider: 
a. A local density bonus for on-site affordable housing for Middle Housing, including 
additional dwelling units, Floor Area Ratio, lot coverage, reduced or waived fees, and 
ministerial approval for projects with on-site deed-restricted units affordable to Low- 
and Moderate-Income households, and incentives for first-time homebuyer 
opportunities. Consider regulating maximum buildable width and/or depth to 
disincentivize higher-cost dwelling units. 
b. A density bonus for additional Accessory Dwelling Units in exchange for the 
inclusion of deed-restricted ADUs on-site affordable to Low- and Moderate-Income 
households. To the extent feasible, incorporate scope of study with Council’s referral 
to develop an Efficiency Unit Ordinance. 
c. A density bonus for Middle Housing residential projects in which an owner-
occupier receives a minimum of in-kind compensation for the parcel with on-site 
ownership unit(s) in the project. Consider standard form agreements and other 
technical assistance. 
d. Pre-approved designs for bonus-compliant projects. 
e. Seek to leverage consistency and compatibility with state and regional resources 
including the Bay Area Housing Finance Authority (BAHFA), MTC/ABAG, AC Boost, 
and the CA Dream For All program. 
2. Refer to the Fiscal Year 25/26 biennial budget process $250,000 for technical 
assistance.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120 

 
6.  Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals 

From: Councilmember Harrison (Author) 
Referred: July 28, 2020 
Due: August 23, 2023 
Recommendation: Amend Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals to 
clarify the ordinance and insure adequate host responsibilities, tenant protections 
and remedies for violating the ordinance.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Kate Harrison, Councilmember, District 4, (510) 981-7140 

 
  

Unscheduled Items 

Page 5



   
 

Monday, May 1, 2023 AGENDA Page 6 

Items for Future Agendas 
• Requests by Committee Members to add items to future agendas 

Adjournment
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Written communications addressed to the Land Use, Housing & Economic Development Committee and 
submitted to the City Clerk Department will be distributed to the Committee prior to the meeting. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect. Members of the City 
Council who are not members of the standing committee may attend a standing committee meeting even 
if it results in a quorum being present, provided that the non-members only act as observers and do not 
participate in the meeting. If only one member of the Council who is not a member of the committee is 
present for the meeting, the member may participate in the meeting because less than a quorum of the 
full Council is present. Any member of the public may attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this 
matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 981-6900. 
 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related 
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please 
contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) at 

least three business days before the meeting date. Attendees at public meetings are reminded that other 
attendees may be sensitive to various scents, whether natural or manufactured, in products and 
materials. Please help the City respect these needs. 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Standing Committee of the Berkeley City Council 
was posted at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on April 27, 2023. 

 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info. 

Page 6

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


 

Thursday, February 16, 2023 MINUTES Page 1 

 
BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL LAND USE, HOUSING, & ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

Thursday, February 16, 2023 
10:30 AM 

 
Committee Members:  

Councilmembers Ben Bartlett, Rigel Robinson, and Mark Humbert 
Alternate: Councilmember Kate Harrison 

 
PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e) and the state declared emergency, this 
meeting of the City Council Land Use, Housing, & Economic Development Committee will be 
conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. The COVID-19 state 
of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person 
and presents imminent risks to the health of attendees. Therefore, no physical meeting location 
will be available.   
 
To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or 
Android device: Use URL https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1605017520. If you do not 
wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on 
"rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon 
on the screen. 
 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 
160 501 7520. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press 
*9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.  
 
Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Land Use, Housing, & Economic 
Development Committee by 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be 
distributed to the members of the Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of 
the official record.   
 

  

Page 1 of 5 01

Page 7

https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1605017520


Thursday, February 16, 2023 MINUTES Page 2 

MINUTES 

Roll Call: 10:32 a.m. Present: Bartlett, Humbert, Robinson 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: 1 speaker. 

1. Election of Chair
Action: M/S/C (Bartlett/Humbert) to elect Councilmember Robinson as Chairperson
of the Land Use, Housing, & Economic Development Committee.
Vote: All Ayes.

Minutes for Approval
Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval. 

2. Minutes - July 7, 2022, July 19, 2022, and November 22, 2022
Action: M/S/C (Robinson/ Bartlett) to approve the minutes of July 7, 2022, July 19,
2022, and November 22, 2022.
Vote: All Ayes.

Committee Action Items
The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to 
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes. 

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council. 

3. Discussion and possible action on new proposed regular meeting time: First
Monday of the month, 10:00 AM
Action: 1 speaker. Discussion held. M/S/C (Robinson/ Bartlett) to approve the item
changing the regular meeting time to the first Monday of the month at 10:00 a.m.
Vote: All Ayes.

Page 2 of 5

Page 8



Thursday, February 16, 2023 MINUTES Page 3 

Unscheduled Items
These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 

4. Referral to City Manager: Tenant Habitability Plan and Amendments to
Relocation Ordinance
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author), Councilmember Hahn (Co-Sponsor)
Referred: October 31, 2022
Due: May 14, 2023
Recommendation: 1. Refer to the City Manager and City Attorney to review and
develop proposed amendments to the Berkeley Municipal Code to require a Tenant
Habitability Plan for major construction or renovation at tenant occupied properties.
Proposed language modeled after the City of Los Angeles’ Tenant Habitability Plan
requirements is attached for consideration. The City Manager should also return with
information on the costs and staffing needs for implementation for future budget
discussions.
2. Refer to the City Manager and City Attorney recommendations from the 4x4 City
Council/Rent Board Joint Committee on Housing for amendments to the City’s
Relocation Ordinance, BMC Chapter 13.84 to strengthen and improve enforcement
of the ordinance.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100 

Page 3 of 5

Page 9



 

Thursday, February 16, 2023 MINUTES Page 4 

5.  Amending BMC Chapter 13.84 to Expand Relocation Assistance and Conflict 
Resolution for Tenants 
From: Councilmember Taplin (Author) 
Referred: February 8, 2022 
Due: July 6, 2023 
Recommendation: Adopt a first reading of an Ordinance amending Berkeley 
Municipal Code Chapter 13.84 enacting the following changes to the City’s 
Relocation Ordinance: 
1. Section 13.84.010 – Delete language referring to “Relocation Services”; 2. Section 
13.84.020 – Create definition of Emergency Relocation to establish process and 
expectation for owner to provide relocation money for emergency events; 3. Section 
13.84.030 – 1) Change title to clarify that tenants are entitled to payments when 
Relocation applies, rather than “Services or Assistance”. 2) Clarify the type of 
determination notices that parties would receive from City officials; 4. Section 
13.84.040 – Create different procedures for “Planned Relocation” and “Emergency 
Relocation”. Move “Owner Responsibilities” content to other sections; 5. Section 
13.84.050 – 1) Change title to clarify that it is about procedure and not payments. 2) 
Add Notice and Order to “Determination Notice”. 3) Move Section B and C to 
Appeals Section; 6. Section 13.84.060 – 1) Change title to clarify Relocation 
Prompted by owner. 2) Include language to indicate that Relocation can also be 
requested by owner when there is no building permit application. 3) Clarify in Section 
E that the “Owner must provide” proof of notice; 7. Section 13.84.070.A – 1) Include 
Moving and Storage to Short term Relocation entitlements if applicable to the 
situation. 2) Section 13.84.070.A.3 regarding a tenant’s ability to pay costs up front. 
3) 13.84.070.A.4.b – meal allowances. 4) 13.84.070.B.2.b – reimbursement for 
moving and storage costs changed to pay up front. 5) 13.84.070.B.3 – Changing how 
Rent Differential is calculated 6) Section 13.84.070.B.4 – Consider specifying 
different utility costs, such as disconnection and reconnection. 7) 13.84.070.N1 – 
Consider meals Per Diem rates for what is appropriate for the region. 8) Add Section 
to speak to replacement unit reservation costs and potential cancellation costs if 
move back notice is given earlier than expected; 8. Section 13.84.080 – Remove; 9. 
Section 13.84.100 1) Change Title 2) Change process for receiving notification that 
Relocation is or is not required. 3) 13.84.100.A.4 Change HAC to Hearing Officer. 3) 
Section 13.84.100.A.5 - Change appeal timeline from 5 to 10 days. 4) Section 
13.84.100.B – Change Language to mirror HAC Process outlined in 19.44.  
Financial Implications: Staff time. 
Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120 

6.  Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals 
From: Councilmember Harrison (Author) 
Referred: July 28, 2020 
Due: April 25, 2023 
Recommendation: Amend Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals to 
clarify the ordinance and insure adequate host responsibilities, tenant protections 
and remedies for violating the ordinance.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Kate Harrison, Councilmember, District 4, (510) 981-7140 

Page 4 of 5

Page 10



Thursday, February 16, 2023 MINUTES Page 5 

7. Amendments to BMC Chapter 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response
Ordinance
From: Councilmember Wengraf (Author), Councilmember Harrison (Author)
Referred: November 14, 2022
Due: May 8, 2023
Recommendation: Adopt the first reading of an ordinance to approve the proposed
amendments to BMC Chapter 13.110 COVID EMERGENCY RESPONSE
ORDINANCE.
Financial Implications: None
Contact: Susan Wengraf, Councilmember, District 6, (510) 981-7160

Items for Future Agendas 
None 

Adjournment 
Action: M/S/C (Robinson/Humbert) to adjourn the meeting. 
Vote: All Ayes. 

Adjourned at 10:42 a.m. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct record of the Land Use, Housing, 
& Economic Development Committee meeting held on February 16, 2023. 

____________________________ 
Neetu Salwan, Assistant City Clerk 

Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info. 

Page 5 of 5

Page 11

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


Page 12



Office of the Mayor

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@cityofberkeley.info

ACTION CALENDAR
November 15, 2022

To: Honorable Members of the City Council

From: Mayor Jesse Arreguín and Councilmember Sophie Hahn

Subject: Referral to City Manager and City Attorney: Tenant Habitability Plan and 
Amendments to Relocation Ordinance 

RECOMMENDATION
1) Refer to the City Manager and City Attorney to review and develop proposed
amendments to the Berkeley Municipal Code to require a Tenant Habitability Plan for
major construction or renovation at tenant occupied properties. Proposed language
modeled after the City of Los Angeles’ Tenant Habitability Plan requirements is attached
for consideration. The City Manager should also return with information on the costs
and staffing needs for implementation for future budget discussions.

2) Refer to the City Manager and City Attorney recommendations from the 4x4 City
Council/Rent Board Joint Committee on Housing for amendments to the City’s
Relocation Ordinance, BMC Chapter 13.84 to strengthen and improve enforcement of
the ordinance.

BACKGROUND

Relocation Ordinance

The Relocation Ordinance, Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.84, which was adopted 
in 1986, is the primary tool for tenants who are displaced from their home due to 
mandated or voluntary code-compliance repairs that requires the tenant to temporarily 
vacate their home. After a lengthy review process which included input from community 
stakeholders and City commissions, the Ordinance was substantially amended in 2011.  
Since its inception, the purpose of the Ordinance has always been “…to provide 
relocation services and require property owners to make certain payments to ..tenant 
households temporarily relocated as a result of code enforcement…or voluntary code 
compliance…” (B.M.C. 13.84.010). The Ordinance applies to all residential households 
and provides few exceptions when work is mandated (B.M.C. 13.84.020B [definition of 
household and unit], 13.84.020C, 13.84.030B [definition of natural disaster which 
exempts property owners from complying with the Ordinance]). 1

1 It is noted that there has been some misunderstanding of the Ordinance’s applicability within the City. It is 
important to note that the Ordinance applies to all residential tenancies and not just those covered by the City’s 

Page 1 of 54 02

Page 13



Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR
November 15, 2022

Page 2

 The following section describes how the Ordinance operates in theory and in practice 
as well as difficulties and concerns that have arisen since it’s most recent 2011 
implementation. 

1. Eligibility

*Application:
Initially, the City’s Relocation Ordinance is only available to parties if either the City 
determines the unit cannot be safely occupied while City-mandated code compliance 
work is being undertaken or if it is determined that voluntary code compliance work or 
fumigation work initiated by the owner necessitates the tenant temporarily vacating their 
unit (B.M.C. 13.84.030A; 13.84.060A, C). 

* Practice:
In practice, the triggering aspect of the Ordinance is one of its greatest blind spots. It is 
understood throughout the City that there will hardly ever be a circumstance that, when 
asked, the Building Official will opine that the tenant must vacate in order for code 
compliance work to be done. This aspect of the Ordinance’s administration is relevant 
since the scenario that usually occurs is when either the owner wishes to have the 
tenant vacate and the tenant doesn’t want to, or the tenant wants to vacate and the 
owner doesn’t believe the work requires the tenant to vacate. It is noted that parties are 
sometimes able to work out these differences and voluntarily comply with the 
Ordinance’s requirements or agree to other terms that are mutually acceptable. This is 
often done however after substantial counseling, guidance and direction from City staff.2

2. Property Owner Responsibilities

*Application:

Once the Ordinance is triggered and there is no dispute between the owner and tenant 
regarding the applicability of the Ordinance, the owner is responsible for providing 
relocation payments directly to the tenant household (13.84.040). Under the Ordinance, 
payments fall into one of two categories; work that is to be completed in less than thirty 
days and work that will take thirty days or more. 
For work to be done in less than thirty days all tenant households are to receive a per 
diem rate currently set at anywhere from $120 to $166 per day depending on size of 
household with increases of $15 per day for additional household members above three 
(13.84.070). The rate can increase per Council resolution.
For work that is anticipated to take longer than thirty days the household receives a flat 
$400 dislocation allowance, moving and storage costs as well as rent differential if the 

Rent Stabilization and Good Cause for Eviction Ordinance and that fires that are not a “natural event” such as a 
“forest fire” do implicate and trigger the Ordinance. 
2 It is noted that properties that are damaged due to fire are the exception to these scenarios since fire-damaged 
buildings will often be yellow or red tagged by the Fire Marshall, thus, in theory, automatically triggering the 
Ordinance since by the very nature of the City’s actions, the unit and/or property is not currently habitable. 

Page 2 of 54

Page 14



Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR
November 15, 2022

Page 3

tenant finds a comparable unit with a higher rent. The rent differential however may not 
exceed a ceiling established annually by the Rent Board and is based on the number of 
bedrooms in the unit (13.74.070B). In lieu of either the per diem payments or rent 
differential payments, the owner may offer an alternative unit to the tenant household 
that is comparable to the unit being vacated. The rent, when offered, cannot exceed the 
tenant’s rent from the unit being vacated and the vacating tenant always has the right to 
return (13.84.070G). The landlord is not obligated to offer the tenant alternative housing 
and the burden in finding alternative housing lies with the tenant. 

*Practice:

The primary disconnect that has surfaced regarding the distinction between the two 
categories of eligibility (thirty days or less versus thirty days or more) is the difficulty 
tenants have in actually finding short-term housing when the repairs are anticipated to 
take longer than thirty days. Staff has repeatedly been informed by tenants seeking 
short-term, temporary housing that it is scarce and hard to find. While sublets can be 
found, temporary housing for only a month or two is most often found within the student 
community and usually only for the summer months.  

Another concern raised by tenants when entering the short-term housing market is the 
that the rental price often exceeds the rent differential ceilings established by the City. 
This results in the tenant paying the excess difference out of pocket. Finally, given the 
vagaries of the work being done at the tenants’ unit, it is often difficult, if not impossible, 
for the tenant seeking housing to truthfully inform the new landlord just how long their 
tenancy is going to be. While there is no legal obligation on the part of a tenant to 
divulge such information prior to renting, may tenants have shared with staff the 
dilemma this issue often presents. 

When the work is anticipated to be less than thirty days, tenants experience different 
difficulties. Initially, tenants state that the current per diem rates are lagging behind 
actual hotel rates. Staff has not been able to confirm this and a more recent survey has 
not been done. 

Also of note is the fact that most hotel rooms do not have adequate cooking facilities 
thus the tenant household must rely on food that does not require full cooking facilities 
such as oven/stove. This results in a higher per diem expense from the household 
which already does not include a separate per diem for food cost. As a result of the 
inherent problems with tenants staying in hotels, many have turned towards short-term 
rentals such as Airbnb and VRBO. These however often exceed the City’s per diem rate 
and, by their very nature, are limited to stays of fourteen days or less.3  

3 While the City’s Short-term Rental Ordinance allows stays of up to 90 days, any stay longer than fourteen days 
converts the occupancy to a potential rent-controlled tenancy, thus many owners limit stays to fourteen days or 
less (B.M.C. 23C.22 et seq.)

Page 3 of 54

Page 15



  
Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR

November 15, 2022

Page 4

Finally, we believe that the voluntariness of an owner offering a vacant unit to a tenant 
being relocated should be amended and made compulsory. Given the difficulties in 
finding alternative housing if an owner has a vacant unit elsewhere in the City it should 
be offered to the tenant as part of the Ordinance. 

3. Challenges/Appeals

*Application:

When the code enforcement work is mandated by the City and the City has deemed the 
unit uninhabitable while the work is being done, the tenant or owner may dispute this 
determination by seeking a hearing with the Housing Advisory Commission (“HAC”) 
(B.M.C. 13.84.050). To the best of our knowledge appeals of this nature are extremely 
rare since most commonly the determination by the City in these instances often are the 
result of a fire at the property resulting in the building being either yellow or red tagged. 

When the work is of a voluntary nature to bring the unit/property into code compliance 
the appeal process is more problematic. 

If the tenant disagrees with a landlord contention that the tenant must vacate, or if either 
party disputes the amount of the relocation benefits to be paid or any other terms of the 
Ordinance, the parties must first engage in some form of conflict resolution/mediation. 
As part of its services, the Rent Board offers mediations to try and resolve Relocation 
Ordinance disputes (B.M.C. 13.84.100).  

Only after such efforts have been made with no result, an owner can seek a hearing 
with the Housing Advisory Commission. Such request must be filed within five days 
after conflict resolution has occurred (B.M.C. 13.84.100A2).

If a tenant disagrees with the owner’s demand that the tenant vacates, a request is to 
be filed with the Building Official also within five days of completion of conflict resolution. 
Upon receipt, the Building Official is then empowered to determine whether relocation is 
necessary. That decision is final (B.M.C. 13.84.100A3). 

*Practice:
In practice, one of the problems lies with the fact that owner challenges to a tenant’s 
right to relocation benefits must first flow through the HAC. Depending on when the 
HAC is meeting, an inordinate amount of time may pass prior to such hearing. Given the 
immediacy of the situation, with a tenant moving out, either into a hotel or longer-term 
temporary housing and seeking immediate relocation payments to cover the move, this 
built-in delay creates extreme burdens on the tenant household if the owner is, in fact, 
challenging the tenants’ right to the benefits. 
 The central concern however with the appeal process lies in the fact that, in most 
cases, if a tenant wishes to move but the owner feels such a move is not necessary, 

Page 4 of 54

Page 16



  
Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR

November 15, 2022

Page 5

there is no mechanism for a tenant to seek that type of determination. The actual issue 
of relocation only rises to the forefront when the owner claims it is necessary when 
obtaining permits to do the work.4 
When the Ordinance was last discussed in detail at this committee, former Rent Board 
commissioner Igor Tregub raised a number of salient points on this issue. Mr. Tregub 
voiced concerns, which are shared by us, that there are many scenarios wherein a 
tenant would need to vacate even though the work contemplated could, technically, be 
done with the tenant remaining in the unit. Mr. Tregub offered compelling hypotheticals 
such as a tenant who is suffering from illness or severe allergies to dust or mold but is 
still forced to remain in the unit; a tenant who works from home but now cannot since 
the repair work would severely disrupt the tenant’s use during the day; a senior or 
disabled tenant whose daily life would be severely impacted if they had to remain in the 
unit while such substantial repair work was done. 

We have heard from staff working on the Ordinance that these are real-life situations 
which have occurred over the years and is one of the central driving forces behind this 
effort to revamp and reimagine how the Ordinance operates. 

4. City Involvement in Relocation Payments

*Application: 
While the Ordinance anticipates City involvement for issues such as actual 
determination of the need to vacate, setting the relocation rates and building in an 
appeal process, enforcement of the Ordinance largely remains up to the parties. 

In cases where an owner fails to make required relocation benefits to the tenant, the 
City may provide such payment and then seek reimbursement from the owner (B.M.C. 
13.84.080). Should this occur, the City is then able to assess a lien on the owner’s 
property in order to recover the costs incurred (B.M.C. 13.84.080A). 

*Practice:
In practice this have never happened. We are aware of at least one case where the 
owner acknowledged the application of the Ordinance, made some initial payments but 
then refused to continue as required. Tenants in this building asked the City to provide 
payment as allowed under the Ordinance but the City balked claiming there was no 
money in the City’s budget to allow for such disbursement. This is problematic and is 
also one of the points raised when the Ordinance was last discussed in detail. We 

4 One of the flaws of the Ordinance and the City’s processes is that while certain permits have a small box for 
owners to check stating relocation is required, this box is hardly ever checked and owners then unilaterally 
proceed to demand the tenant move. In addition, City staff has made clear that they do not have the resources to 
review permits in order to ascertain whether relocation would be required. Thus, the entire Ordinance and its 
administration appears to be hamstrung right at the offset since owners rarely trigger it at the time required, the 
City doesn’t review the permits in real time to determine relocation and the tenant has no recourse under the 
Ordinance to seek relocation if the owner isn’t requesting it. 

Page 5 of 54

Page 17



  
Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR

November 15, 2022

Page 6

believe that, at a minimum, this should change and the City should be either be 
mandated to make payments or the funds need to be provided to make payments when 
determined. The City, through its assessments and liens is in a much better place to 
recover these funds than a tenant who is in the midst of relocating, not having the bare 
resources to pay for such moving expenses and is thus compelled to file a lawsuit which 
can take years to collect what is legally owed them. 

Overview
A review of the Relocation Ordinance shows an Ordinance that was improved back in 
2011 but through design and administration has several crucial flaws that need 
addressing. The actual benefits need to be increased, offering another vacant unit to a 
displaced tenant should be compulsory, the City should provide payments when the 
owner refuses, tenants should have a mechanism to trigger the ordinance as opposed 
to just owners and the requirements for a tenant vacating need to be drastically 
expanded to cover scenarios other than the technical nature of the work being 
contemplated. 

In response a staff proposal making fixes to the Relocation Ordinance, in December 
2019, the 4x4 Joint Committee on Housing made the following recommendation:

Amendments to Relocation Ordinance: 
(Tregub/Alpert) Carried: 6-0-0-2. Absent: Robinson, Harrison. 
Refer to Council the following recommendations: 

a. Amend the Relocation Ordinance to specify and broaden the parties who 
can trigger the Ordinance, including tenants in question. 

b. Increase the per diem reimbursement rates to current market rate and 
index regular increases to cost of living increases. 

c. Institute a new, or strengthen an existing, appeals body to adjudicate 
appeals related to the Relocation Ordinance. 

d. Maintain City involvement by establishing a revolving fund, possible with 
U1 funds, with which the City can pay tenants’ relocation costs and seek 
reimbursement from owners who will not pay tenants directly. 

e. Amend the Relocation Ordinance to consider tenants’ health conditions 
and chemical sensitivities, and the needs of differently abled tenants in 
determining whether the Ordinance is triggered. 

f. Explore how Los Angeles created and implemented their Habitability Plan 
to learn about best practices that could be incorporated into Berkeley’s 
Relocation Ordinance. 

Page 6 of 54

Page 18



Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR
November 15, 2022

Page 7

g. Specify a City Department that will lead the administration, enforcement,
and outreach efforts related to the Relocation Ordinance.

h. Explore whether a permit form can be created or existing forms can be
amended to help determine if a project triggers the Relocation Ordinance at
the time project permits are applied for.

i. Cross-check the Relocation Ordinance with the Demolition Ordinance to
identify gaps and ensure compatibility between the two in an effort to make
tenants whole.

Despite the 4x4’s vote in December 2019, the proposal never made it to Council due to 
the pandemic which halted pending legislation in order to focus on the City’s response 
to COVID-19. Now that the Emergency Operations Center has disbanded and City 
employees have returned to their normal duties, these recommendations are being 
presented to Council with the goal of referring it to City staff for additional review. 

Tenant Habitability Plan

As mentioned in the 4x4’s recommendations for amendments to the Relocation 
Ordinance, recommendation (f) calls for learning how to incorporate a Tenant 
Habitability Plan (THP). This will help resolve concerns about disputes on when a tenant 
needs to temporarily vacate a unit by establishing objective standards and processes 
for such an action. This can also be used as a tool to mitigate impacts on adjacent 
residences in infill developments, which are becoming more commonplace. 

A THP would be required for construction and substantial repairs, such as the 
replacement of any structural, electrical, plumping or mechanical system that requires a 
permit under the Berkeley Municipal Code. It also includes abatement of hazardous 
materials, such as lead paint and asbestos, and repairs required by a Building Official in 
Notice of Violation. This work is most likely to restrict use, access, and peaceful 
enjoyment of the property. 

A THP would provide general identification information for the property owner, general 
contractor, and affected tenants to maintain proper communication. It will provide a 
description of the scope of work to be undertaken, including an estimate timeline of the 
project and its impacts on each unit, and how it would impact each unit (including 
impacts on personal property, such as the removal of furniture to complete the project). 
It will identify mitigation measures that would be adopted. If tenants are to remain in 
place, the landlord shall voluntarily reduce the tenants’ rent to compensate for any 
disruption. If a tenant is not satisfied with the outcome, they can file a petition to the 
City. 

Page 7 of 54

Page 19



Tenant Habitability Plan and Relocation Ordinance ACTION CALENDAR
November 15, 2022

Page 8

There are several Departments that could administer the THP requirements, including 
the Permit Service Center, Housing Code Enforcement/Rental Housing Safety Program 
Staff, HHCS, and the Rent Board. The City Manager should review what Department is 
best suited to be the main point of reference as a part of this referral. 

The responsible agency would review the THP within five days. If there are deficiencies 
in the plan, they will provide the property owner written indications of what needs to be 
planned, in which the property owner would be able to make amendments. Both the 
property owner and tenant would have an opportunity to appeal the determining 
agency’s determination regarding the THP. 

A draft of a THP, which is based off the program created by the City of Los Angeles in 
2005, can be found in Attachment 1. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Staff time involved in reviewing the Tenant Habitability Plan proposal and amendments 
to the Relocation Ordinance. If adopted additional funding and increased staffing would 
be needed as well as coordination with other departments to implement proposals. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
No identifiable environmental effects

CONTACT PERSON
Mayor Jesse Arreguín 510-981-7100

Attachments: 
1: Draft language of Tenant Habitability Plan
2: Memo Provided to 4x4 Committee on Tenant Habitability Plan (THP) Proposal
3. PowerPoint Presentation to 4x4 Committee on THP
4: City of Los Angeles Tenant Habitability Program, Section 152.00 of LA Municipal
Code
5: Current Copy of the Relocation Ordinance, BMC Chapter 13.84

Page 8 of 54

Page 20



DRAFT 

19.40.125    Tenant Habitability Plan 

1251 – Purpose and Intent 

In its adoption of Section 19.40.125 et seq. of this Code, the City recognizes that construction 
and repairs on Rental Units  or adjacent to such Rental units can create  hardships on tenants; 
especially those who are senior citizens, persons on fixed incomes and low and moderate-income 
households. The City also recognizes that there is a shortage of decent, safe, and sanitary 
affordable housing in Berkeley. The City further declares, in its adoption of section 19.40.125 et 
seq. of this Code, that it is in the public interest of the people of Berkeley to protect and promote 
the existence of sound and wholesome residential buildings, dwelling units, and neighborhoods 
by the adoption and enforcement of such standards, regulations, and procedures as will remedy 
the existence or prevent the development or creation of dangerous, substandard, or unsanitary 
and deficient residential buildings and dwelling units. 

However, both preventative maintenance as well as code enforcement related maintenance 
sometimes involves the replacement or substantial modification of major building systems or the 
abatement of hazardous materials and, by its very nature, such work generally makes rental units 
untenantable, as defined by California Civil Code Section 1941.1, on a temporary basis. 

Additionally, through the passage of AB 68, AB 670, AB 881, SB 13, and SB 9 
______________ the State of California has passed several laws which have streamlined the 
ability to build on lots and in and next to residential units that are already occupied by residential 
housing. These provisions have recently been extended to include not only units built in owner-
occupied lots but also investment properties owned by developers who are not local to the area.  

This article is adopted to facilitate landlord investment in renovations and the construction of 
new housing without subjecting tenants to either untenantable housing conditions during such 
renovation work or forced permanent displacement. The tenant habitability program requires 
landlords to mitigate such temporary untenantable conditions, either through actions to ensure 
that tenants can safely remain in place during construction, or through the temporary relocation 
of tenants to alternative housing accommodations. These two options should not be regarded as 
mutually exclusive but rather as complementary approaches that might be appropriate to 
different stages of the renovation process. 

1252 – Definitions 

The following words and phrases, whenever used in this article, shall be construed as defined in 
this section. Words and phrases not defined here shall be construed as defined in Section 
13.76.040 of this Code if defined in that section. 

Construction means construction on tenant occupied buildings, lots, or adjacent units.  This 
includes elective upgrades that do not arise to Substantial Repairs but require permits, 

Page 9 of 54

Page 21



construction of entirely new units or division or creation of additional units from already existing 
residential units. 

Emergency Repairs. Repairs that must be completed in less than 48 hours shall be exempt from 
the habitability plan process.   

Repairs in Response to Notice of Violation means repairs that must be completed to correct a 
notice of violation.  

Notice of Construction on Occupied Buildings 

Notice of Substantial Repairs or Construction means a written notice, served by the landlord 
upon a tenant or tenant household at least 60 days prior to the commencement of any substantial 
repairs or Construction that uses a form established by the [responsible agency], and advises the 
tenant of forthcoming Substantial Repairs or Construction, the impact of such work on the 
tenant, and measures the landlord will take to mitigate the impact on the tenant. 

Substantial Repairs means work performed either on a rental unit or on the building containing 
the rental unit that brings the unit into compliance with the Housing Code by making substantial 
repairs and that cannot be made while the tenant lives there improves the property by prolonging 
its useful life or adding value, and involves either or both of the following: 

1. Replacement or substantial modification of any structural, electrical, plumbing or
mechanical system that requires a permit under the Berkeley Municipal Code.

2. Abatement of hazardous materials, such as lead-based paint and asbestos, in accordance
with applicable federal, state and local laws.

3. Repairs required by Building Official in Notice of Violation pursuant to 19.40.100

Temporary Relocation means the payment of relocation costs or the providing of a comparable 
rental unit in accordance with a Tenant Habitability Plan and Berkeley’s Relocation Services and 
Pavements For Residential Tenant Households Ordinance (Berkley Mun. Code § 13.84.010 et 
seq.) The temporary relocation of a tenant from his/her permanent place of residence shall not 
constitute the voluntary vacation of the unit and shall not terminate the status and rights of a 
tenant, including the right to reoccupy the same unit, upon the completion of the Primary 
Renovation Work and any Related Work. 

1253 – Procedure for Undertaking Substantial Repairs and Construction on Occupied 
Properties 

1253.1  Building Permits 

A. No landlord shall undertake Substantial Repairs or commence Construction on Property
without first obtaining all necessary permits, pursuant to this Code. 

Page 10 of 54

Page 22



B. The Planning Department shall only clear a landlord's application for a permit for
Substantial Repairs  or Construction on Occupied Properties if all of the following
conditions have been met:

1. The landlord has submitted a Tenant Habitability Plan to the [responsble agency],
in accordance with sections 1253.2 and 1253.3, which the [responsible agency] finds
to adequately mitigate the impact of the Substantial Repairs or Construction upon
affected tenants; and

2. The landlord has submitted a declaration documenting service to affected tenants
of both a Notice of Substantial Repairs and a copy of the non-confidential
portions of the Tenant Habitability Plan in accordance with section 1254.

3. The landlord has paid any plan submission fee established by regulation under
Berkeley Municipal Code section 13.76.060(F).

1253.2  Tenant Habitability Plan  

A. At a minimum, a Tenant Habitability Plan shall provide the following information,
together with any other information Berkeley’s [responsible agency]deems necessary to
ensure that the impact of Substantial Repairs and Construction or any related work upon
affected tenants is adequately mitigated:

1. Identification of the landlord, the general contractor responsible for the
Substantial Repairs or Construction, and any specialized contractor responsible
for hazardous material abatement, including but not limited to lead-based paint
and asbestos.

2. Identification of all affected tenants including the current rent each tenant pays
and the date of each tenant's last rent increase. In accordance with California
Civil Code Sec. 1798 et seq., information regarding tenants shall be considered
confidential.

3. Description of the scope of work covering the Substantial Repairs or
Construction. Such description shall address the overall
work to be undertaken on all affected units and common areas, the specific
work to be undertaken on each affected unit, an estimate of the total project
cost and time, and an estimate of the cost and time of renovation for each
affected unit.

4. Identification of the impact of the Substantial Repairs or Construction on the
habitability of  affected rental units, including a discussion of impact severity
and duration with regard to noise, utility interruption, exposure to hazardous
materials, interruption of fire safety systems, inaccessibility of all or portions of
each affected rental unit, and disruption of other tenant services.

Page 11 of 54

Page 23



5. Identification of the mitigation measures that will be adopted to ensure that
tenants are not required to occupy an untenantable dwelling, as defined in
California Civil Code Section 1941.1. Such measures may include the adoption
of work procedures that allow a tenant to remain on-site and/or the temporary
relocation of tenants. If due to a declared state of emergency, childcare,
eldercare, documented disabilities or work schedule or place of work  that
makes 8:00 - 5:00 pm Monday through Friday a grave burden, then a
reasonableness standard shall be used reflecting the tenant's specific situation.

6. Identification of the impact of the Substantial Repairs or Construction on the
personal property affected tenants, including work areas which must be cleared
of furnishings and other tenant property, and the exposure of tenant property to
theft or damage from hazards related to work or storage.

7. Identification of the mitigation measures that will be adopted to secure and
protect tenant property from reasonably foreseeable damage or loss.

8. Identification of a phone number and email address of a responsible party who
will be responsive to tenant complaints regarding the execution of the
Substantial Repairs.

9. If tenants are to remain in place, the landlord shall voluntarily reduce the
tenants’ rent to compensate the tenant for any disruption to their tenancy. If a
tenant feels the landlord’s rent reduction is inadequate, the tenant may file a
petition with Berkeley’s Rent Program under section 11.100.070(c) or pursue
any other legal remedy.

1253.3  Plan Acceptance 
A. The [responsible agency] shall make a determination regarding the

adequacy of a landlord's Tenant Habitability Plan within five working
days of the [responsible agency]’s receipt of the plan for review. The
[responsible agency] shall accept those plans which meet the requirements
of section 1251.2 of this section and which it determines, with reference to
the standards set forth in California Civil Code Section 1941.1, and in
accordance with any applicable regulations or guidelines adopted under
section 13.76.060(F)., will adequately mitigate the impacts of Substantial
Repairs upon tenants. The Tenant Habitability Plan may allow for the
temporary disruption of major systems during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to
5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. While brief periods of scheduled
untenantability between 8:00 and 5:00 am may be acceptable, a tenant’s
tenancy shall not be substantially disrupted for extended periods or in a
manner that would be unreasonably disruptive to the tenant. In
determining whether a disruption is reasonable, the [responsible agency]
shall consider any relevant issue raised by the tenant, such as the tenant
working from home, sleeping during the day, etc. At no point shall tenants

Page 12 of 54

Page 24



be exposed to toxic or hazardous materials including, but not limited to, 
lead-based paint and asbestos. 

B. The[responsible agency]’s acceptance of a Tenant Habitability Plan shall
be subject to the landlord having no outstanding balances due for rent
registration or code enforcement fees.

C. The [responsible agency]shall provide landlords with written indications
of deficiencies which must be addressed whenever a Tenant Habitability
Plan is determined to be inadequate. A landlord may submit an amended
plan in order to correct identified deficiencies.

D. Landlords and tenants may appeal the [responsible agency]’s
determination regarding a Tenant Habitability Plan to a hearing officer.
The appeal shall be made in writing, upon appropriate forms provided by
the [responsible agency], and shall specify the grounds for appeal, such as
the plan being overly disruptive or that a temporary relocation should or
should not be provided. The appeal shall be filed within 15 calendar days
of the service of the Building Division's determination. The requested
hearing shall be held within 30 calendar days of the filing of the appeal
following the procedures adopted under. The hearing officer shall issue a
written decision within ten calendar days of the hearing on the appeal,
with a copy of the decision served on the landlord and the tenants by first
class mail, postage prepaid, or in person.

1253.4 Notice of Substantial Repairs or Construction  

A. Notice of Substantial Repairs or Construction shall be written in the language in which
the original lease was negotiated and shall provide the following information:

1. The estimated start and completion dates of any Substantial Repairs associated
with the accepted Tenant Habitability Plan.

2. A description of the Substantial Repairs to be performed and how it will impact
that particular tenant or household.

3. Whether temporary relocation will be required, and if so, a notice concerning
tenants’ rights under Berkeley’s Fair Rent, Just Cause For Eviction and
Homeowner Protection Ordinance (section 13.100 et seq.) and Berkeley’s
Relocation Ordinance (section 11.102 et seq.)

4. Instructions that tenants with questions should consult the landlord or the Rent
Board.

5. Notice of a tenant's right to reoccupy the units under the existing terms of
tenancy upon completion of Notice of Substantial Repairs

Page 13 of 54

Page 25



6. Notice that the tenant may appeal the [responsible agency]’s acceptance of a
Tenant Habitability Plan provided such request is submitted within 15 days of the
tenant's receipt of the Notice of Substantial Repairs

7. Notice that a tenant can make complaints to the responsible party identified in
section 1253.2 (A)(1).

8. A disclaimer in at least 24 point bold font on the first page of the notice stating
“THIS IS NOT AN EVICTION NOTICE. IF YOU IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
CONCERNING YOUR RIGHTS AS A TENANT CALL 510-981-_______.

1254 – Notice and Service Requirements 

After the [responsible agency] accepts the Tenant Habitability Plan, a landlord shall serve a copy 
of the Tenant Habitability Plan, Notice of Substantial Repairs or Construction, and a summary of 
the provisions of this article on the tenant. Service of these items shall be provided in the manner 
prescribed by Section 1162 of the California Code of Civil Procedure and at least 60 days prior 
to the date on which the Substantial Repairs or Construction are scheduled to begin. 

1255 - Notices of Violation 

A. Habitability Plan submittal requirement upon finding of substandard housing pursuant
to 19.40.090

1. Building Officials shall include in Notice of Violation pursuant to 19.40.1002
whether Habitability Plan must be submitted;

2. Building Official shall require submittal of Habitability Plan anytime owner or
agent of owner has failed to apply for permits or submit a Habitability Plan when
it would have been required and all Construction or repairs shall be halted until
compliance is obtained.

If such pause in construction leaves the rental unit substandard, temporary relocation may be 
triggered.  
1256 - Remedies 

A. A landlord who fails to abide by the terms of an accepted Tenant Habitability Plan shall
be denied individual rent adjustments under Section 13.76.120 of this Code, absent
extenuating circumstances.

B. In any action by a landlord to recover possession of a rental unit under section
13.76.130(A)(7), the tenant may raise as an affirmative defense the failure of the landlord
to comply with any provisions contained in this article. It shall be a complete defense to
an unlawful detainer that a tenant’s appeal under section 1253.3(D) is pending at the time

Page 14 of 54

Page 26



of filing the unlawful detainer complaint, or was decided less than fourteen days before 
the filing of the Unlawful Detainer unlawful detainer complaint. 

C. Any person who willfully or knowingly with the intent to deceive, makes a false
statement or representation, or knowingly fails to disclose a material fact in any plan or
notice required under this article, or in any declaration, application, hearing or appeal
permitted under this article, including oral or written evidence presented in support
thereof, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. Any person convicted of a misdemeanor under
the provisions of this chapter shall be punished by a fine of not more than $1,000.00 or
by imprisonment in the County Jail for a period of not more than six months or both.

D. Nothing in this article shall be construed to deprive a person of due process rights
guaranteed by law, including, but not limited to, a right to appeal the [responsible
agency]’s determination regarding a Tenant Habitability Plan to a hearing officer.

E. The remedies provided by this article are in addition to any other legal or equitable
remedies and are not intended to be exclusive. In addition to potentially other violations,
a landlord’s failure to provide, or bad faith deviation from a Tenant Habitability Plan
shall be actionable as a failure to “exercise due diligence in completing repairs” pursuant
to section 13.79.060(C)(7).

3. 

Page 15 of 54

Page 27



Jesse Arreguin
Mayor

Leah Simon-Weisberg
Chair, Berkeley Rent Board
Berkeley Rent Stabilization

Tenant Habitability Plan for City of Berkeley Proposal Discussion

What is the purpose of Tenant Habitability Plan:

1. Prevent permanent displacement when substantial repairs are needed;
2. Allow and facilitate substantial repairs while requiring mitigation of the possible

negative impact on tenants of said repairs
3. Prevention of unsafe and harassing approaches to construction whether for the

purposes of new construction or substantial repairs while tenants remain at
property.

4. Create objective standards and processes to best prevent unsafe and harassing
approaches to construction.

5. Respond to the recent phenomena of infill projects where tenants are in
occupancy. (Harper Street)

When does a landlord need to fill out a tenant habitability plan?

Situations of work inside, outside or adjacent to occupied unit:
1. Planned Repair by landlord
2. Planned Construction by landlord
3. Requested Repairs by tenant
4. Emergency Repairs
5. Tenant complains about unsafe or nuisance construction

Timeframes for notification can be different for the different kinds of work

Option 1) An approved tenant habitability plan is required before any work is done to a
property with a building that has one or more residential dwelling units.   (Simple
check-box if no buildings are tenant occupied).

Page 16 of 54

Page 28



Option 2) RHSP definition: An approved tenant habitability plan is required before any
work to any dwelling which is rented, leased, let or hired out to be occupied for
consideration.

What “work” should trigger the requirement that the landlord must  fill out form
and provide mitigation?

Menu of Options:
1. Any work requiring a permit.

2. Substantial repair and mediation: seismic retrofits, elevator repairs, and when
hazardous materials such as lead paint or asbestos are being remediated.

3. Any work in the following section:

Berkeley Code Sections Referenced:
Berkeley Code sections that could be referenced: Title 19 – Buildings and
Construction.

● Berkeley Building Code BMC Chapter 19.29
● Berkeley Residential Code BMC Chapter 19.30
● Berkeley Electrical Code BMC Chapter 19.32
● Berkeley Mechanical Code BMC Chapter 19.34
● Berkeley Plumbing Code BMC Chapter 19.36
● BMC Chapter 19.38: Seismic Hazard Mitigation Program for Unreinforced

Masonry Buildings
● BMC Chapter 19.39: Potentially Hazardous Buildings Containing Soft,

Weak, or Open Front Stories
● BMC Chapter 19.50: Elevators-buildings with ten or more units and two or

more stories

4. Requiring habitability plan submittal when a property with a tenant occupied
structure receives a notice of violation for code violations including
unpermitted work and other housing code violations. In Berkeley work without
permit can be cited by either a building inspector or a housing inspector, both of
which are in the Planning Department.

5. Requiring mitigations when work is being done adjacent to a tenant’s unit for a
sustained period of time.

6. Requiring a habitability plan for work on properties that have a structure with a
dwelling unit will cover the ADU situations we heard about where a tenant
could not access their unit or tenant parking spaces were temporarily or

1

Page 17 of 54

Page 29



permanently removed due to ADU construction.  Building permits are required for
all ADUs so no specific requirement for ADUs needs to be included to cover this
situation.

Who should Administer the program?

Berkeley Departments that could administer habitability plan requirements:

● Permit Service Center (within Planning Department)

● Housing Code Enforcement and Rental Housing Safety Staff (both are also
within Planning Department)

● HHCS (as long as they are involved in Relocation Ordinance)

● Rent Board, Rent Board Hearings unit best to assist with hearing/complaint
process

2

Page 18 of 54

Page 30



UPDATE ON TENANT HABITABILITY 
AND PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 

Revise Berkeley B.M.C. Chapter 13.84 (“Relocation 
Ordinance”) to better protect tenants during construction due 
to necessary repairs, new construction of ADUs and other 
additional housing units.

4x4 Housing Task Force, July 12, 2022

Jesse Arreguin
Mayor

Leah Simon-Weisberg
Chair
Berkeley Rent 
Stabilization 

Page 19 of 54

Page 31



REVIEW

1. We reviewed memo
accessing the gaps in our
relocation ordinance
when tenants are facing
repairs in their units and
construction

2. Reviewed
Recommendations

Page 20 of 54

Page 32



Goals for next 
meeting

Page 21 of 54

Page 33



Reminder of what a Tenant 
Habitability Plan

Page 22 of 54

Page 34



Step 1

Provide THP to 
permitting agency

Step 2 

5 days for agency to 
approve or deny based 
on objective standards

Step 3

Landlord may apply for 
permit

Step 4

Approved THP served on tenant 60 days before 
work can commence with Notice of Primary 
Renovation Work; 
THP plan, summary  of plan and relocation option 
if work will last more than 30 days.

Step 5

Construction begins!

Page 23 of 54

Page 35



Tenant Habitability Plan 
City of Berkeley Proposal

Page 24 of 54

Page 36



What is the purpose of 
Tenant Habitability Plan:

1. Prevent permanent displacement
when substantial repairs are
needed;

2. Allow and facilitate substantial repairs
while requiring mitigation of the
possible negative impact on tenants
of said repairs

3. Prevention of unsafe and harassing
approaches to construction whether
for the purposes of new construction
or substantial repairs while tenants
remain at property.

4. Create objective standards and
processes to best prevent unsafe and
harassing approaches to
construction.

5. Respond to the recent phenomena of
infill projects where tenants are in
occupancy. (Harper Street)

Page 25 of 54

Page 37



Context and 
consideration:S

Situations of work inside, 
outside or adjacent to 
occupied unit: 

1. Planned Repair by
landlord

2. Planned Construction by
landlord

3. Requested Repairs by
tenant

4. Emergency Repairs
5. Tenant complains about

unsafe or nuisance
construction

Page 26 of 54

Page 38



Lo
re

m
 Ip

su
m

Lorem Ipsum

Lorem Ipsum

Lorem Ipsum

Lorem Ipsum

Lorem Ipsum

Adjacent 

No notice necessary 
but  rebuilding is a 
different

Planned

Lorem Ipsum

Lorem Ipsum

Ty
pe

s 
of

 R
ep

ai
rs

Complaint

Emergency

Construction

Repairs

Code Enforcement

In unit

Planned

Permit needed ?

Always require THP?

Requested by Tenant

Code Enforcement

Page 27 of 54

Page 39



When does a landlord need to fill out a tenant habitability plan? 

Situations of work inside, outside or 
adjacent to occupied unit: 

1. Planned Repair by landlord
2. Planned Construction by landlord
3. Requested Repairs by tenant
4. Emergency Repairs
5. Tenant complains about unsafe or

nuisance construction

Timeframes for notification can be 
different for the different kinds of 
work

Option 1) An approved tenant habitability 
plan is required before any work is done to 
a property with a building that has one or 
more residential dwelling units.   (Simple 
check-box if no buildings are tenant 
occupied).

Option 2) RHSP definition: An approved 
tenant habitability plan is required before 
any work to any dwelling which is rented, 
leased, let or hired out to be occupied for 
consideration.

Page 28 of 54

Page 40



What “work” should trigger the 
requirement that the landlord must  
fill out form and provide 
mitigation?

Page 29 of 54

Page 41



●

1. Any work requiring a 
permit

2. Substantial repair and 
mediation: seismic 
retrofits, elevator repairs, 
and when hazardous 
materials such as lead 
paint or asbestos are 
being remediated 

Menu of Work

Page 30 of 54

Page 42



●

Berkeley Code Sections Referenced:
Berkeley Code sections that could be referenced: Title 19 – Buildings and 
Construction. 

● Berkeley Building Code BMC Chapter 19.29
● Berkeley Residential Code BMC Chapter 19.30
● Berkeley Electrical Code BMC Chapter 19.32
● Berkeley Mechanical Code BMC Chapter 19.34
● Berkeley Plumbing Code BMC Chapter 19.36
● BMC Chapter 19.38: Seismic Hazard Mitigation Program for Unreinforced

Masonry Buildings
● BMC Chapter 19.39: Potentially Hazardous Buildings Containing Soft,

Weak, or Open Front Stories
● BMC Chapter 19.50: Elevators-buildings with ten or more units and two or

more stories

Menu of Work
3. Any work in the following section:

Page 31 of 54

Page 43



●

Menu 4.  Requiring habitability plan submittal when 
a property with a tenant occupied structure 
receives a notice of violation for code 
violations including unpermitted work and 
other housing code violations. In Berkeley 
work without permit can be cited by either a 
building inspector or a housing inspector, 
both of which are in the Planning 
Department.

5.  Requiring mitigations when work is being 
done adjacent to a tenant’s unit for a 
sustained period of time. 

6.  Requiring a habitability plan for work 
on properties that have a structure 
with a dwelling unit will cover the ADU 
situations we heard about where a 
tenant could not access their unit or 
tenant parking spaces were temporarily 
or permanently removed due to ADU 
construction.  Building permits are 
required for all ADUs so no specific 
requirement for ADUs needs to be 
included to cover this situation.

Page 32 of 54

Page 44



Who should Administer the program?

Berkeley Departments that could administer habitability plan requirements:

● Permit Service Center (within Planning Department)

● Housing Code Enforcement and Rental Housing Safety Staff (both are also within
Planning Department)

● HHCS (as long as they are involved in Relocation Ordinance)

● Rent Board, Rent Board Hearings unit best to assist with hearing/complaint process

Page 33 of 54

Page 45



Direction for next 
steps?

Page 34 of 54

Page 46



Page 35 of 54

Page 47



Page 36 of 54

Page 48



Page 37 of 54

Page 49



Page 38 of 54

Page 50



Page 39 of 54

Page 51



Page 40 of 54

Page 52



Page 41 of 54

Page 53



Page 42 of 54

Page 54



Page 43 of 54

Page 55



13.84.010 
13.84.020 
13.84.025 
13.84.030 
13.84.040 
13.84.050 
13.84.060 
13.84.070 
13.84.080 
13.84.090 
13.84.100 
13.84.110 
13.84.120 

Chapter 13.84 
RELOCATION SERVICES AND PAYMENTS FOR RESIDENTIAL TENANT 

HOUSEHOLDS 

Sections: 

Purpose. 
Definitions. 
Notice. 
Eligibility for relocation services and assistance. 
Owner responsibilities. 
Relocation payment and appeals procedures for code enforcement activity. 
Relocation payment procedures for voluntary code compliance. 
Relocation and other payments. 
City’s involvement in relocation payments. 
Move-back option. 
Conflict resolution and appeal procedures for voluntary code compliance. 
Private right of action. 
Severability. 

13.84.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to provide relocation services and require property owners to make certain 
payments to residential tenant households temporarily relocated as a result of code enforcement activities or 
voluntary code compliance in order to alleviate hardships associated with such relocations; to facilitate the 
correction of code violations; and to protect the health, safety and welfare of Berkeley residents. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 
(part), 2011) 

13.84.020 Definitions. 

A. "Code enforcement" or "code enforcement activity" means an activity or activities initiated by the City to 
require an owner to bring the property into compliance with applicable laws including, but not limited to, actions 
by the Building Official or Fire Marshal after a fire ordering relocation. 

B. "Household" or "tenant household" for purposes of this chapter means one or more individuals entitled to the 
occupancy of a rental unit or room who share living expenses. 

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 1 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 44 of 54

Page 56



C. "Natural disaster" means any natural event which results in damage to property, such as, but not limited to,
an earthquake, flood, or forest fire.

D. "Owner" means a person, persons, corporation, partnership or any other entity possessing ownership of a
property individually, jointly, in common or in any other manner or their agent or assignee.

E. "Relocate" or "relocation" means the required vacating of a residential unit or room by a tenant household
and the moving temporarily into another unit or room as a result of repairs required to bring the building or a
portion thereof which contains a residential unit or room occupied by the tenant household into code compliance
whether such repairs are undertaken because of code enforcement or through voluntary code compliance as
defined below.

F. "Residential unit" or "unit" means a building or portion of a building designed for, or occupied exclusively by,
one or more persons living as a household.

G. "Room" means a room in a hotel or boarding house or a rented room in a private dwelling occupied by a
tenant household for at least thirty (30) consecutive days.

H. "Voluntary code compliance" means actions voluntarily initiated by an owner to achieve compliance with
applicable laws including, but not limited to, fumigation, as well as to seismically retrofit a building on the
inventory of potentially hazardous soft story buildings established under Chapter 19.39 so as to remove it from
such inventory under Section 19.39.080.B if such retrofit is required by the City. (Ord. 7456-NS § 1, 2016: Ord.
7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011)

13.84.025 Notice. 

Whenever any notice or other communication is required by this chapter to be served on, provided, given or 
delivered to, or filed with any person, that notice or communication may be communicated by personal delivery, 
certified mail, first class mail, e-mail, or any other similar method that will provide a written record of the notice or 
communication. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

13.84.030 Eligibility for relocation services and assistance. 

A. A tenant household shall be eligible for relocation assistance and payments pursuant to this chapter if the City
determines that the condition of a building or portion thereof is such that a unit or room cannot be safely
occupied by that tenant household while the building or portion thereof is being brought into code compliance
and if such condition was not primarily or entirely created by the tenant household occupying the unit or room.

B. A tenant household shall not be eligible for relocation assistance and payments pursuant to this chapter if the
required relocation of the tenant household is the result of an earthquake or other natural disaster. (Ord. 7212-NS
§ 1 (part), 2011)

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 2 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 45 of 54

Page 57

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/19.39
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/19.39.080(B)


13.84.040 Owner responsibilities. 

A. The owner shall be responsible for providing relocation payments directly to the tenant household required to 
relocate pursuant to this chapter. The owner is also responsible for complying with Section 13.76.130 (rent 
stabilization and eviction for good cause ordinance). 

B. If the owner or the City determines that relocation is necessary, the owner shall provide a written notice of 
temporary relocation to any affected tenant households thirty (30) days in advance of the required relocation 
unless the City orders abatement that requires relocation in less than thirty (30) days and, in such case, the owner 
shall provide a notice within ten (10) days of the City’s abatement order. Such notice shall summarize the repairs 
to be undertaken and the estimated duration of relocation. Any such notice which the owner serves upon a tenant 
household shall refer to and shall be accompanied by a copy of this chapter and the City’s request for relocation 
payment form. Nothing in this section shall relieve the owner of their obligation to serve any notice that would 
otherwise be required pursuant to state or local law. 

C. The owner shall notify the tenant household when repairs are completed and permit the tenant household to 
reoccupy the residential unit or room as per Section 13.84.090. The tenant household shall retain all rights of 
tenancy that existed prior to relocation, except as set forth in Section 13.84.070.G.2. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

13.84.050 Relocation payment and appeals procedures for code 
enforcement activity. 

A. Whenever a building or portion thereof which contains a residential unit or room is declared in violation of 
any law, the Building Official or Fire Marshal, as appropriate, shall determine whether the repairs necessary to 
abate the violation(s) can reasonably be accomplished without relocation of the tenant household in possession of 
the unit or room. Such determination shall be served in the same manner as the notice of violation. The absence 
of an express determination that relocation is required shall be deemed a determination that relocation is not 
required. 

B. Any affected tenant household or owner who disputes a determination made by the Building Official or Fire 
Marshal under subsection A of this section may file a written request for a hearing by the Housing Advisory 
Commission. Such request for hearing must be filed within ten (10) days of the date of the notice from the Building 
Official or Fire Marshal. 

C. Appeals of determinations by the Building Official or Fire Marshal of the necessity to relocate due to an 
imminent threat to life and safety shall not delay enforcement of the vacation ordered by the Building Official or 
Fire Marshal. 

D. The determination by the Building Official or Fire Marshal that a tenant household is required to relocate 
pursuant to this chapter shall not relieve the owner of their obligation to provide a notice of temporary relocation 
pursuant to Section 13.84.040. Any such notice which the owner serves upon a tenant household shall refer to and 
shall be accompanied by a copy of this chapter, and the City’s request for relocation payment form. Nothing in this 

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 3 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 46 of 54

Page 58

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/13.76.130


section shall relieve the owner of their obligation to serve any notice that would otherwise be required pursuant to 
state or local law. 

E. Each tenant household which has been served with a notice of temporary relocation from the owner
indicating that relocation is required in accordance with the notice of violation shall complete a request for
relocation payment form to calculate the amount of the initial payment to which the household is entitled
pursuant to Section 13.84.070. The tenant household shall serve the completed request for relocation payment to
the owner within thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice of temporary relocation.

F. Within five business days after receipt of the tenant household’s completed request for relocation payment
form, the owner shall make the initial relocation payment directly to the tenant household as per Section
13.84.070, or follow the conflict resolution and appeal procedure as specified in Section 13.84.100. (Ord. 7212-NS
§ 1 (part), 2011)

13.84.060 Relocation payment procedures for voluntary code compliance. 

A. Whenever an owner applies for a building permit to bring a residential unit or room into code compliance, the
owner shall be required to specify whether repairs will necessitate the tenant household occupying the unit or
room to relocate.

B. The City shall provide the owner with a notice containing information about the tenant household’s relocation
rights pursuant to this chapter, as well as a copy of this chapter and a City contact number where additional
information can be obtained.

C. If the owner determines that relocation may be necessary to undertake repairs to bring the property into code
compliance or as a result of fumigation, the owner shall serve all affected tenant households with a notice of
temporary relocation, a copy of this chapter, and a copy of the City’s request for relocation payment form. These
documents shall be provided to tenants at least thirty (30) days in advance of the required relocation. Nothing in
this section shall relieve the owner of their obligation to serve any notice that would otherwise be required
pursuant to state or local law.

D. If the tenant household disagrees with the owner’s determination of the necessity to relocate, the tenant
household may follow the conflict resolution and appeals procedure as specified in Section 13.84.100.

E. The Building Official must receive acknowledgment(s) of receipt by the tenant household(s) of the documents
required by subsection C of this section before the City will issue the building permits necessary to undertake
repairs. Such acknowledgment may be in the form of the tenant household’s signature asserting receipt, or other
proof substantiating that a notice was delivered to the affected tenant household(s).

F. Each tenant household which has been served with the notice required by subsection C of this section or the
Building Official’s determination pursuant to Section 13.84.100.A.3 shall complete a request for relocation
payment form to calculate the amount of the initial payment to which the household is entitled pursuant to
Section 13.84.070. The tenant household shall notify the owner of the amount of payment to which the tenant
household is entitled within thirty (30) days of receipt of the notice from the owner.

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 4 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 47 of 54

Page 59



G. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the tenant household’s completed relocation payment form, the owner
shall make the initial relocation payment directly to the tenant household as per Section 13.84.070.K or follow the
conflict resolution and appeal procedure as specified in Section 13.84.100.

H. The relocation of a tenant household pursuant to this chapter shall not terminate the tenancy of the relocated
household. The relocated household shall have the right to reoccupy the unit or room from which it was relocated
as soon as the unit or room is ready for reoccupancy, except as set forth in Section 13.84.070.G.2. (Ord. 7212-NS
§ 1 (part), 2011)

13.84.070 Relocation and other payments. 

A. Households to be relocated for twenty-nine (29) consecutive days or less, including households covered under
section 13.84.040.B, shall be entitled to the following relocation payments:

1. A per diem payment to compensate for hotel or motel accommodations and meals. Such payment
amount shall be established by City Council resolution and be based upon tenant household size.

2. Reimbursement for daily boarding costs for pets lawfully occupying the unit or room from which the
tenant household was relocated at the date of relocation if the tenant household’s temporary accommodation
does not accept pets. The tenant household shall receive reimbursement for reasonable boarding costs. The
maximum reimbursement rate shall be established by City Council resolution. The tenant household must
provide proof of the actual boarding costs incurred in order to receive reimbursement from the owner. For
purposes of this section, "pets" shall exclude any pet that is customarily kept in an enclosure such as a cage,
terrarium or aquarium, and the number of pets lawfully occupying a unit or room shall be the number
specifically permitted by written agreement.

3. The initial relocation payment shall be due within ten (10) days of the owner’s receipt of the tenant
household’s request for relocation payment. If the period of relocation is less than ten (10) days, the initial
relocation payment shall include the per diem payment for the full period. If the period of relocation exceeds
ten (10) days, the initial relocation payment shall include either:

(a) A lump sum per diem payment for the full period of relocation; or

(b) The per diem payment for a minimum of ten (10) days, with subsequent payment contingent upon
verification of hotel costs incurred by the tenant household. Such payments are due to the tenant
household immediately upon owner’s receipt of documentation verifying the household’s expenses. If the
tenant household does not incur hotel costs, it is only entitled to receive a meal allowance for each
member of the household during the remaining period of relocation.

B. Households to be relocated for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days or longer shall be entitled to relocation
payments that include all of the following:

1. A one-time dislocation allowance to help defray incidental relocation expenses. The amount of the
dislocation allowance shall be established by City Council resolution.

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 5 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 48 of 54

Page 60



2. The household’s choice of reimbursement for actual moving and storage expenses or a fixed payment,
subject to the following requirements:

(a) If a fixed payment is chosen, no documentation of expenses is necessary. The amount of the fixed
payments shall be established by City Council resolution.

(b) Reimbursement for actual documented moving and storage expenses shall include both moving
costs to the replacement unit(s) and moving costs back to the original unit. Moving costs shall consist of
actual reasonable costs of moving, including transportation of personal property, packing and unpacking,
insurance of personal property while in transit, compensation for any damage occurring during moving,
storage of personal property, disconnection and reconnection of utility services and any additional
reasonable costs associated with the required moving. Payments for a one-way move shall not exceed
rates established in the fixed residential moving cost schedule approved by the Federal Highway
Administration and published in the federal register on a periodic basis.

3. If the rental costs incurred by the tenant household during the period of relocation exceed the amount of
rent being paid on the unit or room to be vacated, the household shall be eligible for a rent differential
payment. The rent differential payment shall be equal to the difference between the rent paid on the unit or
room to be vacated and the rent paid for a unit or room temporarily leased during the period of relocation,
with the following restrictions:

(a) The rent differential payment shall not exceed a ceiling established annually by the City based on the
average market rent statistics gathered and published by the rent stabilization program for the prior
calendar year.

(b) The ceiling for the rent differential payment shall be based on the bedroom size of the unit or room
to be vacated, with the exception of payments for relocation from rooms which shall be calculated on the
same basis as payment for relocation from a studio apartment.

(c) The rent differential payment for a tenant household receiving a rental subsidy shall be based on the
amount of rent paid by the tenant household for the unit or room leased by the tenant household during
the period of relocation. The owner may coordinate with the entity providing the subsidy to assure the
continuity of the rental subsidies during the period of relocation.

4. Reimbursement for the documented utility cost(s) that the tenant household incurs in their replacement
housing, if the owner had been paying that particular utility cost for the vacated unit or room.

C. The initial relocation payment pursuant to subsection B of this section shall be due within ten (10) days of the
owner’s receipt of the tenant household’s request for relocation payment, and shall include:

1. The dislocation allowance;

2. Either the fixed payment for moving and storage costs if applicable, or payment for moving costs based
on a reasonable estimate from a qualified professional mover;

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 6 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 49 of 54

Page 61



3. The rent differential payment for one month or, if the relocation is anticipated to exceed ninety (90) days, 
then the initial payment shall include the rent differential payment for the first three-month period. 

D. Subsequent payments for rent differential, utilities and storage costs pursuant to subsections B.2.b through 
B.4 of this section, when applicable, shall be made on a monthly basis thereafter. Such payments shall be made at 
least seven days in advance of when the tenant household’s monthly rental payment is due. Instead of monthly 
payments the owner may make one lump sum payment for the full amount due for the rent differential payments 
to the tenant household. If the tenant household qualifies for reimbursement for monthly storage or utilities 
costs, these payments continue on a monthly basis or upon receipt by the owner of documentation that verifies 
the household’s expenses. 

E. Payments pursuant to subsections B.2.b through B.4 of this section, when applicable, shall continue until such 
time that the unit from which the tenant household was relocated is available for occupancy or the tenant 
household has notified the owner of their intent to permanently vacate the unit. 

F. If the tenant household has not been offered the opportunity to reoccupy the unit from which it relocated 
within six months from the date of their relocation, the tenant household shall be entitled to receive an additional 
dislocation allowance payment. The tenant household must provide written request for the additional dislocation 
payment to the owner which includes confirmation of their intent to reoccupy the unit. Such payment is due 
within ten (10) days after receipt of the tenant household’s request. Acceptance of such payment does not 
constitute a tenant household’s relinquishment of any tenancy rights. 

G. 1. In lieu of the per diem payments in subsection A of this section, or rent differential and utility payments in 
subsections B.3 and B.4 of this section, the owner may offer an alternate rental unit or room to the tenant 
household that is comparable to the unit or room being vacated and is owned by the owner. The amount of 
rent paid by the household for such unit or room shall not exceed the rent being paid on the unit or room 
from which the tenant household relocated. If the tenant household accepts the owner’s offer, the tenant 
household does not relinquish its right to reoccupy the unit or room from which it is being relocated unless 
the tenant household provides written notice surrendering possession of the unit or room. A tenant 
household that accepts an alternate unit or room is entitled to receive the dislocation allowance in subsection 
B.1 of this section and compensation for moving and storage costs if applicable as provided in subsection B.2 
of this section. 

2. If the tenant household does not timely notify the owner of its intent to reoccupy the unit or room under 
Section 13.84.090 and seeks to remain in its alternate unit, it thereby surrenders its right to reoccupy the unit 
or room from which it has relocated and terminates its tenancy of that unit or room, and the rent for the 
alternate unit or room shall not be limited by this chapter and may be increased to an amount otherwise 
permissible by Chapter 13.76. Nothing in this section limits the owner’s right to evict a tenant household 
pursuant to Section 13.76.130.A.11. 

H. A tenant household that is relocated for thirty (30) days or more shall not be responsible for any rent due on 
the unit or room from which it was relocated during the period of relocation and failure to pay rent during this 
period shall not constitute relinquishment of tenancy rights. 

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 7 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 50 of 54

Page 62

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/13.76
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/13.76.130(A)(11)


I. The owner and tenant household may mutually agree upon temporary housing and relocation payments 
other than that provided by this chapter. Such agreement shall be in writing and signed by both the owner and 
tenant household with a copy provided to the City’s Housing and Community Services Department. 

J. If a tenant household’s actual relocation period is shorter than the period for which the owner has paid, the 
tenant household must repay the overpaid amount to the owner within thirty (30) days of receiving written notice 
from the owner of the overpayment. If the tenant household has incurred a financial obligation to pay rent, 
utilities, or storage costs during the remaining period of their relocation, these costs may be deducted from the 
amount to be repaid to the owner, subject to the provisions of subsection B of this section. 

K. All payments to tenant households under this chapter shall be made to those persons in the tenant 
household from whom the owner has received rental payments during the immediately preceding rental period, 
in the same proportion in which such payments were made. The owner shall have no liability or other obligation 
with respect to further division or allocation of such payments among the members of the tenant household. 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect the determination of the actual number of tenants in the 
tenant household for purposes of Chapter 13.76. 

L. The size of a tenant household shall be determined based on the number of individuals entitled to occupy the 
unit or room at the time a determination of the Building Official is served under Section 13.84.050 or a notice of 
temporary relocation is served under Section 13.84.060.C. 

M. Upon receipt of the full relocation payment under this chapter and a notice of temporary relocation, the 
tenant household shall relocate within thirty (30) calendar days. Failure to relocate pursuant to such notice may 
entitle the landlord to issue a notice to vacate and be a basis for good cause eviction pursuant to Section 
13.76.130.A.7.a. 

N. The City Council shall by resolution adopt a reasonable reimbursement rate for the following based upon 
surveys of prevailing costs for services, subject to limitations set forth in this chapter and any additional limitations 
set forth in the resolution: 

1. Per diem rates for hotel accommodations and meal allowance pursuant to subsections A.1 and A.3 of this 
section; 

2. Maximum boarding costs for pets pursuant to subsection A.2 of this section; 

3. Dislocation allowance pursuant to subsections B.1 and F of this section; 

4. Fixed payments for moving and storage pursuant to subsection B.2 of this section. (Ord. 7456-NS § 2, 
2016: Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

13.84.080 City’s involvement in relocation payments. 

The City may provide payment required by Section 13.84.070 to tenant households in situations where the owner 
fails or refuses to pay for required relocation costs. The City shall recover from the owner all costs incurred as a 
result of making such payments. In order for the City to consider such payments, a request must be made by the 

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 8 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 51 of 54

Page 63

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/13.76


tenant household to the City Manager or their designee within twenty (20) days from the owner’s failure or refusal 
to make the required payments as required in Sections 13.84.050.F and 13.84.060.G. 

A. Upon receipt of a request from a tenant household the City shall mail a written notice to the owner of the 
owner’s obligation under this chapter to provide relocation assistance and payment and the time when payment is 
required. The notice shall also specify that failure to make required payments may result in the City making such 
payments and recovering the costs of doing so from the owner through a special assessment lien on the owner’s 
property that shall include an administrative lien fee. 

B. If within ten (10) days of the receipt of the notice provided pursuant to subsection A of this section the owner 
continues to fail or refuse to make the necessary payments, the City may make the required relocation payment to 
the household. The City shall then bill the owner for the amount of payment, plus any administrative and other 
costs it would not have otherwise incurred. If the owner does not pay the City within a thirty (30) day period, the 
City may recover the costs as a special assessment lien on the owner’s property along with an administrative lien 
fee in accordance with Chapter 1.24. The City Manager or their designee shall notify the owner. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 
(part), 2011) 

13.84.090 Move-back option. 

A. The relocation of a tenant household pursuant to this chapter shall not terminate the tenancy of the relocated 
household. The relocated household shall have the right to reoccupy the unit or room from which it was relocated 
as soon as the unit or room is ready for reoccupancy, and the tenant household shall retain all rights of tenancy 
that existed prior to the displacement. 

B. If a household wishes to avail itself of this option, it must inform the owner of its current address during the 
period of relocation. 

C. For tenant households displaced for thirty (30) consecutive days or more, owners shall notify the tenant 
household at least thirty (30) days in advance of the availability of the unit or room. Within ten (10) days of receipt 
of the notice of availability, a tenant household must notify the owner if it wishes to reoccupy the unit or room. 
The owner must hold the unit or room vacant at no cost to the tenant household for thirty (30) days from the date 
the tenant household’s written notice of its intent to reoccupy the unit or room is received. 

D. For households displaced for twenty-nine (29) consecutive days or less and receiving a per diem payment, 
owners shall notify the household at least one day in advance of the availability of the unit or room. The 
household shall be entitled to receive a per diem payment for up to twenty-four (24) hours after receiving such 
notice that the unit or room is ready for occupancy. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice of availability from 
the owner, the household must notify the owner of its intent to reoccupy the unit or room. 

E. A unit or room shall be deemed to be permanently surrendered and the tenancy terminated when the tenant 
household provides notice in writing to the owner that it does not intend to reoccupy the unit or room from which 
it was relocated or does not notify the owner of its intent to reoccupy the unit or room. If the owner has not made 
relocation payments as required by this chapter and the unit or room becomes permanently vacated, then it shall 
be presumed that the surrender of the right of possession of the unit or room was involuntary unless the owner 

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 9 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 52 of 54

Page 64

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/1.24


has received a written notice from the tenant household permanently surrendering its right to their unit or room. 
(Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

13.84.100 Conflict resolution and appeal procedures for voluntary code 
compliance. 

A. Appeals under this chapter related to voluntary code compliance shall be filed as set forth below. Appeal
procedures related to code enforcement activity are addressed in Section 13.84.050.

1. If the tenant household disputes the owner’s determination of the necessity for relocation, or either party
disputes the amount of relocation payments or other terms of the relocation, the City may refer the parties to
a conflict resolution or mediation service provided through the Rent Stabilization Board or any other
appropriate entity upon request by both parties for such referral in lieu of an appeal to the Building Official
per subsection A.3 of this section. The purpose of such referral shall be the negotiation of a mutually
acceptable agreement pertaining to the terms of the relocation. If no agreement is reached, then either party
may follow the appeals procedure as set forth in this section. Nothing in this chapter shall preclude the parties
from meeting on their own at any time, with or without a mediator, in an attempt to resolve their
disagreements.

2. If the owner disagrees with the tenant household’s claim for relocation payments, and such disagreement
cannot be resolved through conflict resolution or mediation, then the owner may file a written request for a
hearing by the Housing Advisory Commission as to the amount of the claim, or their responsibility for
relocation assistance pursuant to this chapter. Such request must be filed within five business days of the
conclusion of mediation or within ten (10) days of the owner’s receipt of the tenant household’s claim of
relocation payments as set forth in Section 13.84.050.E or 13.84.060.F, whichever comes later.

3. If the tenant household disagrees with the owner as to the necessity to relocate, and such disagreement
cannot be resolved through conflict resolution or mediation, the tenant household may request in writing that
the Building Official make a determination. Such request must be filed within five business days of the
conclusion of mediation, or within ten (10) days of the tenant household’s receipt of the relocation notice in
Section 13.84.060.C, whichever comes later. The Building Official shall determine whether relocation is
necessary and the owner shall serve all affected tenant households with a copy of the Building Official’s
determination. This decision shall be final.

B. All hearings conducted before the Housing Advisory Commission shall be scheduled for the next available
meeting unless a postponement is agreed upon by all parties. The Commission may convene a special meeting if
delay of a hearing until the next regularly scheduled meeting would create a hardship. The owner and all affected
tenant households shall be notified of the time and place of the hearing at least ten (10) days before the date of
hearing. The Commission shall render its decision on any such appeal within ten (10) days after the hearing on the
appeal is closed. The Commission’s decision shall be final.

C. Nothing in this chapter shall in any way preclude or limit any aggrieved party from seeking judicial review after
such person has exhausted the administrative remedies provided by this chapter. However, it shall be conclusively

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 10 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 53 of 54

Page 65



The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022. 

Disclaimer: The City Clerk’s Office has the official version of the Berkeley Municipal Code. Users should contact the 
City Clerk’s Office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above. 

City Website: www.berkeleyca.gov 
Code Publishing Company 

presumed that a litigant has not exhausted their administrative remedies as to any issue which is not raised in the 
administrative proceedings authorized herein. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

13.84.110 Private right of action. 

Any tenant that believes that the provisions of this chapter have been violated shall have the right to file an action 
for injunctive relief and/or damages. Treble damages may be awarded for willful failure to comply with the 
payment obligations established by this chapter and for actual damages incurred by a household as a result of the 
owner’s willful failure to offer the relocated household the opportunity to reoccupy the unit from which it 
relocated. In any action brought under this chapter, the court may award reasonable attorney fees to any 
prevailing party. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

13.84.120 Severability. 

If any provision of this chapter is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of the chapter shall not be invalidated. (Ord. 7212-NS § 1 (part), 2011) 

Ch. 13.84 Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 11 of 11

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7830-NS, passed July 26, 2022.

Page 54 of 54

Page 66

https://www.berkeleyca.gov/
https://www.codebook.com/


CONSENT CALENDAR
April 11, 2023

Councilmember Sophie Hahn 
City of Berkeley, District 5

1

To: Honorable Members of the City Council
From: Councilmember Sophie Hahn (Author); Councilmembers Kate Harrison and

Terry Taplin (Co-Sponsors)
Subject: Budget Referral: Study to support Housing Element commitment to increase

housing on higher-resourced commercial avenues of Solano, North Shattuck, 
and College Avenues.

RECOMMENDATION
Refer $250,000 to the June 2023 budget process to study and develop options, including but 
not limited to changes to zoning, incentives/programs/financing mechanisms, and objective 
design standards for Solano Avenue, North Shattuck, and College Avenue to: 

1. Increase housing opportunities for people of all incomes, with an emphasis on housing 
affordable to households at or below 120% of Area Median Income (AMI); 

2. Provide preferences to households previously excluded from residential areas served by 
these commercial corridors via discriminatory deed restrictions and/or discriminatory 
lending practices;

3. Provide housing with amenities for seniors, households with children, individuals with 
disabilities, artists, and other populations with specialized housing needs;

4. Ensure recommendations for zoning and design standards consider unique 
characteristics of each commercial area, including lot sizes and depths, availability of 
rear-access to parcels, abutting/neighboring residential zoning standards, and any other 
unique characteristics of each commercial district and its surroundings;   

5. Enhance the viability of locally-owned and neighborhood-serving commercial uses both 
during construction and over the long term, including potential reduced rents/right to 
return for existing establishments, appropriately-sized and accessible commercial 
spaces, and rent-controlled commercial spaces as a potential community benefit. 
Examples of such neighborhood serving commercial uses may change as retail trends 
develop, but could include: grocery/food stores, banks, dry cleaning and shoe repair, 
hardware stores, wellness and hair salons, restaurants and cafes, fitness centers, 
clothing and gift shops.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
$250,000 from the City’s General Fund. 

Page 1 of 3 03

Page 67



2

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Program 27 of Berkeley’s approved 2023 Housing Element identifies transportation and 
commercial corridors as priority development areas. This program specifically identifies Solano 
Avenue, North Shattuck and College Avenue districts as areas for increased housing.
As Part of the Land Use, Safety, and Environmental Justice Element Update, the City 
committed to:

“update zoning map and development standards to accommodate housing capacity and 
growth on transit and commercial corridors, particularly in the highest resource and 
higher income neighborhoods pursuant to the Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing 
requirement.

These updates will increase allowed densities and/or development capacity with the goal 
of achieving consistency among all transit and commercial corridors, especially between 
formerly red-lined areas and higher-resource areas of Solano Avenue, north Shattuck 
Avenue, and College Avenue.”1

Funds are required to develop a comprehensive study, in conjunction with District 
Councilmembers and local stakeholders, of opportunities to increase housing capacity on 
Solano Avenue, North Shattuck and College Avenue commercial corridors. This study and 
options developed, including potential programs, changes to zoning, and other measures as 
outlined in the Recommendation or further developed through study should be presented to the 
City Council prior to referring any zoning changes to the Planning Commission. 

The goal of the study is to enhance access to higher resourced neighborhoods for formerly 
excluded communities and to continue and expand opportunities for vibrant, locally-owned, 
neighborhood-serving commercial uses along the corridors. 

BACKGROUND
The Housing Element Update will serve as the City of Berkeley’s housing plan for the next eight 
years (2023-2031). It is an important opportunity for Berkeley’s residents and community 
members to come together to assess housing needs, identify policy and resource priorities, and 
find solutions to implement a wide range of housing choices. The plan contains goals, policies, 
and programs that will guide the City’s decision-making around the development and 
rehabilitation of housing. 

The Housing Element serves as a comprehensive document for everyone in the Berkeley 
community. Racial and social equity, and protections for vulnerable and historically impacted 
communities, are key factors in this update to the City’s housing plan.  

The Housing Element is mandated by State law to be updated every eight years and certified by 
California’s Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD). Each jurisdiction in 

1 https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-
17-2023v2_0.pdf

Page 2 of 3

Page 68



3

California receives a target number of homes to plan for called the Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation, or RHNA. On December 16, 2021, Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) 
Executive Board conducted a public hearing and adopted the Final RHNA Plan. The total 
Regional Housing Needs Determination (RHND) for the Bay Area in the 2023-2031 period is 
441,176 units. Berkeley’s RHNA for the 2023-2031 period is 8,934 residential units.2

Beyond the requirements outlined in the Housing element itself, it is overdue for additional 
housing – particularly affordable housing – to be constructed along these key, higher resourced 
corridors to advance our City’s commitment to equity. As many other neighborhoods are already 
doing their fair share to provide additional housing, it is time for us to ensure additional 
affordable housing is constructed in higher resource neighborhoods as well.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Housing near transit can reduce greenhouse gas impacts and local commerce reduces the 
need to travel for everyday needs.  

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Sophie Hahn, (510) 981-7150

2 https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/land-use-development/general-plan-and-area-
plans/housing-element-update

Page 3 of 3

Page 69



Page 70



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981- ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-
E-Mail:

CONSENT CALENDAR
Feb. 22, 2022

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmember Taplin

Subject: Amending BMC Chapter 13.84 to Expand Relocation Assistance and Conflict 
Resolution for Tenants

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a first reading of an Ordinance amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.84 
enacting the following changes to the City’s Relocation Ordinance:

1. Section 13.84.010 – Delete language referring to “Relocation Services”.

2. Section 13.84.020 – Create definition of Emergency Relocation to establish
process and expectation for owner to provide relocation money for emergency events.

3. Section 13.84.030 – 1) Change title to clarify that tenants are entitled to
payments when Relocation applies, rather than “Services or Assistance”. 2) Clarify the
type of determination notices that parties would receive from City officials.

4. Section 13.84.040 – Create different procedures for “Planned Relocation” and
“Emergency Relocation”. Move “Owner Responsibilities” content to other sections.

5. Section 13.84.050 – 1) Change title to clarify that it is about procedure and not
payments. 2) Add Notice and Order to “Determination Notice”. 3) Move Section B and C
to Appeals Section.

6. Section 13.84.060 – 1) Change title to clarify Relocation Prompted by owner. 2)
Include language to indicate that Relocation can also be requested by owner when
there is no building permit application. 3) Clarify in Section E that the “Owner must
provide” proof of notice.

7. Section 13.84.070.A – 1) Include Moving and Storage to Short term Relocation
entitlements if applicable to the situation. 2) Section 13.84.070.A.3 regarding a tenant’s
ability to pay costs up front. 3) 13.84.070.A.4.b – meal allowances. 4) 13.84.070.B.2.b –
reimbursement for moving and storage costs changed to pay up front. 5) 13.84.070.B.3
– Changing how Rent Differential is calculated 6) Section 13.84.070.B.4 – Consider
specifying different utility costs, such as disconnection and reconnection. 7)
13.84.070.N1 – Consider meals Per Diem rates for what is appropriate for the region. 8)
Add Section to speak to replacement unit reservation costs and potential cancellation
costs if move back notice is given earlier than expected.

8. Section 13.84.080 – Remove.

Page 1 of 16 04

Page 71



[Amending BMC Chapter 13.84] CALENDAR

Page 2

9. Section 13.84.100 1) Change Title 2) Change process for receiving notification 
that Relocation is or is not required. 3) 13.84.100.A.4 Change HAC to Hearing Officer. 
3) Section 13.84.100.A.5 - Change appeal timeline from 5 to 10 days. 4) Section 
13.84.100.B – Change Language to mirror HAC Process outlined in 19.44 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Staff time.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Updating the City of Berkeley’s Relocation Ordinance is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, 
advancing our goal to create housing support services for our most vulnerable 
community members.

The City of Berkeley’s Relocation Ordinance (BMC Chapter 13.84) has so far been 
enforced primarily through voluntary code compliance by property owners. Relocation 
benefit requirements triggered by code enforcement at the determination of a Building 
Official and/or Fire Marshall can and should be more robust, with strong disincentives 
and penalties against “constructive eviction” or intimidation of tenants via substandard 
habitability.

California’s Housing Crisis Act of 2019 (Senate Bills 330 [2019] and Senate Bill 8 
[2021]) grants lower-income tenants relocation benefits and right of first refusal on new 
affordable units if new housing development were to displace residents of protected 
units, even temporarily, by demolition. This has provided an impetus for the City of 
Berkeley to update its Demolition Ordinance and Relocation Ordinance to strengthen 
tenant protections and avoid possible state pre-emption, although the need to 
strengthen the Relocation Ordinance has long preceded new state laws with respect to 
demolition. In particular, Section 8 tenants facing eviction by neglect, due to landlords 
who opt for abatement of payments rather than maintenance and repair when dwelling 
units fail a code enforcement inspection, have been a regular concern for the District 2 
council office. 

BACKGROUND
In its September 2018 meeting, the City of Berkeley’s Housing Advisory Commission 
recommended the following changes to the Relocation Ordinance:

1. Updating the cost of pet boarding and motel costs more frequently, without the 
need for Council action.

2. Annual reports to the Housing Advisory Commission on number of tenants 
requiring relocation payments.

3. Enforcing relocation payments via tax lien on property owner. 

4. Funding for Berkeley Rent Board to enforce Relocation Ordinance.

Page 2 of 16

Page 72



[Amending BMC Chapter 13.84] CALENDAR

Page 3

Following consultation with stakeholders, staff in the Department of Health, Housing and 
Community Services (HHCS) and the Berkeley Rent Board added the following 
recommendations:

1. Considerations for tenants with disabilities or high sensitivities to environmental
conditions.

2. Considerations for hazardous or environmental but not structural conditions in
building/unit; assessment of state licensed 3rd party reports and medical doctor
assessments by City of Berkeley Health Officer or designee.

3. Stronger evaluation of substandard conditions from Building Official which would
require relocation when there is:

a. Lack of bathroom/toilette facilities for more than 24 hours

b. Lack of water for more than 24 hours

c. Lack of heating for more than 72 hours

In 2021, the Berkeley City Council and Berkeley Rent Board’s 4x4 Committee discussed 
various possible amendments to the Demolition and Relocation Ordinances with 
Planning Department staff.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
None.

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Terry Taplin Council District 2 510-981-7120

Attachments: 
1: Ordinance

Page 3 of 16

Page 73



Page 4 of 16

Page 74



1

Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.84
RELOCATION SERVICES AND PAYMENTS FOR RESIDENTIAL 

TENANT HOUSEHOLDS

Sections:
Section 13.84.010 Purpose
Section 13.84.020 Definitions
Section 13.84.025 Notice
Section 13.84.030 Eligibility for Relocation services and assistancePayments 
From Owner
Section 13.84.040 Owner responsibilities
Section 13.84.050 Relocation payment and appeals Pprocedures for Code 
Enforcement Activity and Emergency Situations
Section 13.84.060 Relocation payment pProcedures for Voluntary Code 
Compliance
Section 13.84.070 Relocation and other payments
Section 13.84.080 City’s involvement in Relocation payments\
Section 13.84.090 Move-back option
Section 13.84.100 Conflict Resolution and Appeal Procedures and Conflict 
Resolution for Voluntary Code Compliance
Section 13.84.110 Private right of action
Section 13.84.120 Severability

Section 13.84.010 Purpose.
The purpose of this Chapter is to provide Relocation services and require property 

Owners to make certain payments to residential Tenant Households temporarily 
Relocated as a result of Code Enforcement Activities or Voluntary Code Compliance in 
order to alleviate hardships associated with such Relocations; to facilitate the correction 
of code violations; and to protect the health, safety and welfare of Berkeley residents.  

Section 13.84.020 Definitions
A. "Code Enforcement" or "Code Enforcement Activity" means an activity or activities

initiated by the City to require an Owner to bring the property into compliance with
applicable laws including, but not limited to, actions by the Building Official or Fire
Marshall after a fire ordering Relocation.

B. “Emergency Relocation” for purposes of this Chapter means an unexpected event,
such as a fire, or other conditions, not including a natural disaster, not created by the
Tenant Household that have rendered the “Residential Unit” or “Room” “substandard”
and uninhabitable as determined by the Building Official or Fire Marshal and require
immediate relocation.

C. "Household" or "Tenant Household" for purposes of this Chapter means one or more
individuals entitled to the occupancy of a rental unit or room who share living
expenses.

Page 5 of 16

Page 75



2

D. “Natural Disaster” means any event or force of nature that is not caused by human 
action or inaction which results in  death, injuries and/or damage to property, such as 
an earthquake, flood, or forest fire. 

E. "Owner" means a person, persons, corporation, partnership or any other entity 
possessing ownership of a property individually, jointly, in common or in any other 
manner or his or her agent or assignee. 

F. "Relocate" or “Relocation” means the required vacating of a Residential Unit or Room 
by a Tenant Household and the moving temporarily into another Unit or Room as a 
result of repairs required to bring the building or a portion thereof which contains a 
Residential Unit or Room occupied by the Tenant Household into code compliance 
whether such repairs are undertaken because of Code Enforcement or through 
Voluntary Code Compliance as defined below. 

G. "Residential unit" or "Unit" means a building or portion of a building designed for, or 
occupied exclusively by, one or more persons living as a Household. 

H. "Room" means a room in a hotel or boarding house or a rented room in a private 
dwelling occupied by a Tenant Household for at least thirty (30) consecutive days. 

I. “Substandard” means the Building Official or Fire Marshal has deemed that the 
residential unit or room is not in compliance with California Health and 
Safety Code (H&SC), Section 17920.3 and may exist to the extent that it endangers 
the health and safety of its occupants or the public and therefore requires Relocation 
of the Tenant Household. 

J. "Voluntary Code Compliance" means actions voluntarily initiated by an Owner to 
achieve compliance with applicable laws including, but not limited to, fumigation, as 
well as to seismically retrofit a building on the Inventory of Potentially Hazardous Soft 
Story Buildings established under Chapter 19.39 so as to remove it from such 
inventory under Section 19.39.080.B if such retrofit is required by the City.

Section 13.84.025 Notice 
Whenever any notice or other communication is required by this Chapter to be served on, 
provided, given or delivered to, or filed with, any person, that notice or communication 
may be communicated by personal delivery, certified mail, first class mail, e-mail, or any 
other similar method that will provide a written record of the notice or communication. 

Section 13.84.030 Eligibility for Relocation services and assistancePayments
A. A Tenant Household shall be eligible for Relocation assistance and assistance 

and/or  payments pursuant to this Chapter if the City determines that the condition of a 
building or portion thereof is such that a Unit or Room cannot be safely occupied by that 
Tenant Household while the building or portion thereof is being brought into code 
compliance and if such condition was not primarily or entirely created by the Tenant 
Household occupying the Unit or Room.

B. Determination by the City will be in the form of a Notice and Order from the Building 
Official or an Imminent Hazard or Unsafe Building Notice from the Fire Marshall or 
Building Official, including Yellow or Red Tags of property or units.: 1) Building Official 

Page 6 of 16

Page 76



3

Notice and Order of Violation OR 2) Fire Marshall notice or copy of notice posted on the 
property…(in the case of fire?) 

C. A Tenant Household shall not be eligible for Relocation assistance and payments 
pursuant to this Chapter if the required Relocation of the Tenant Household is the result 
of an earthquake or other Natural Disaster.

 Section 13.84.040 Owner responsibilities
A. The Owner shall be responsible for providing Relocation payments directly to the 

Tenant Household required to Relocate pursuant to   of this Chapter. The Owner is also 
responsible for complying with the Berkeley Municipal Code Section 13.76.130 (Rent 
Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance). 

B. Planned Relocation: If the Owner or the City determines that Relocation is 
necessary due to planned voluntary code compliance work, the Owner shall provide a 
written Notice of Temporary Relocation to any affected Tenant Households at least 30 
days in advance of the required Relocation unless the City orders abatement that requires 
Relocation in less than 30 days and, in such case, the Owner shall provide a Notice within 
10 days of the City’s abatement order.  Such notice shall summarize the repairs to be 
undertaken and the estimated duration of Relocation.  Any such notice which the Owner 
serves upon a Tenant Household shall refer to and shall be accompanied by a copy of 
this Chapter and the City’s Request for Relocation Payment form. Nothing in this Section 
shall relieve the Owner of their obligation to serve any notice that would otherwise be 
required pursuant to state or local law.Emergency Relocation:  

C. The Owner shall notify the Tenant Household when repairs are completed and 
permit the Tenant Household to reoccupy the Residential Unit or Room as per Section 
13.84.090.  The Tenant Household shall retain all rights of tenancy that existed prior to 
Relocation, except as set forth in Section 13.84.070.G.2.

Section 13.84.050 Relocation payment and appeals Pprocedures for Code 
Enforcement Activity including Emergency Relocation Situations

A. Whenever a building or portion thereof which contains a Residential Unit or Room 
is declared in violation of any law, the Building Official or Fire Marshal, as appropriate, 
shall determine whether the conditions of the Unit or Room meet the criteria of 
“Substandard” as defined by California Health and Safety Code (H&SC), Section 
17920.3, and exist to the extent that it endangers the health and safety of its occupants 
or the public and/or if the repairs necessary to abate the violation(s) cannot reasonably 
be reasonably accomplished without Relocation of the Tenant Household in possession 
of the Unit or Room.  Such determination shall be served in the same manner as thein 
the form of a as a “Notice and Order”of Violation.  The absence of an express 
determination that Relocation is required as part of the Notice and Order shall be deemed 
a determination that Relocation is not required. 

Commented [1]: The last revision included changes to the 
ordinance to address procedures for fires or other immediate 
relocation under Code Enforcement Action, so I’m not sure 
this is necessary.

Commented [2R2]: Need to be more specific as to what 
“immediate” means, I think.  As currently written, 10 days may 
be too long to wait in an emergency situation.  But would the 
Owner be required to pay the tenant before receiving their 
written request for relocation payments as described in 
Section 070? Just need to make sure the procedure spelled 
out in that section is revised to be consistent with the intent 
here.

Commented [3R2]: Perhaps within 3 days. This is generally 
the amount of Time Red Cross will provide assistance.

Commented [4R2]: Included 72 Hours to timeline.

Page 7 of 16

Page 77



4

B. The Owner shall be responsible for providing Relocation payments directly to the 
Tenant Household required to relocate pursuant to Section 13.84.060 and 13.84.070 
of this Chapter. The Owner is also responsible for complying with the Berkeley 
Municipal Code Section 13.76.130 (Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause 
Ordinance). 

C. Planned Relocation: If the Owner determines that Relocation is necessary due to 
planned Voluntary Code Compliance work, the Owner shall provide a written Notice 
of Temporary Relocation to any affected Tenant Households at least 30 days in 
advance of the required Relocation Such notice shall summarize the repairs to be 
undertaken and the estimated duration of Relocation.  Any such notice which the 
Owner serves upon a Tenant Household shall refer to and shall be accompanied by 
a copy of this Chapter and the City’s Request for Relocation Payment form. Nothing 
in this Section shall relieve the Owner of their obligation to serve any notice that would 
otherwise be required pursuant to state or local law.

D. Emergency Relocation: In the case of an “Emergency Relocation” where the Building 
Official or Fire Marshall  determines that the “Residential Unit” or “Room” is unsafe 
and should not be occupied, the Owner is required to initiate short term Relocation to 
the Tenant Household within 72 hours from the official determination that the unit or 
room is uninhabitable. If the displacement of the tenant or household lasts for more 
than 29 days, the parties may adjust to Long-Term Relocation Payments or seek to 
find alternative arrangements that are acceptable for both parties. 

E. The Owner shall notify the Tenant Household when repairs are completed and permit 
the Tenant Household to reoccupy the Residential Unit or Room as per Section 
13.84.090.  The Tenant Household shall retain all rights of tenancy that existed prior 
to Relocation, except as set forth in Section 13.84.070.G.2.
F. Any affected Tenant Household or Owner who disputes a determination made by 

the Building Official or Fire Marshal under subsection A of this section, may file a written 
request for a hearing by the Housing Advisory Commission.  Such request for hearing 
must be filed within ten (10) days of the date of the Notice from the Building Official or 
Fire Marshall.  

G. Appeals of determinations by the Building Official or Fire Marshall of the necessity 
to Relocate due to an imminent threat to life and safety shall not delay enforcement of the 
vacation ordered by the Building Official or Fire Marshall.

H. The determination by the Building Official or Fire Marshal that a Tenant Household 
is required to Relocate pursuant to this Chapter shall not relieve the Owner of his/her 
obligation to provide a Notice of Temporary Relocation pursuant to Section 13.84.0540.  
Any such Notice which the Owner serves upon a Tenant Household shall refer to and 
shall be accompanied by a copy of this Chapter, and the City’s Request for Relocation 
Payment form. Nothing in this Section shall relieve the Owner of their obligation to serve 
any notice that would otherwise be required pursuant to state or local law.

I. Each Tenant Household which has been served with a Notice of Temporary 
Relocation from the Owner indicating that Relocation is required in accordance with the 
Notice of Violation shall complete a Request for Relocation Payment form to calculate the 
amount of the initial payment to which the Household is entitled pursuant to the Berkeley 
Municipal Code Section 13.84.070. The Tenant Household shall serve the completed 

Page 8 of 16

Page 78



5

Request for Relocation Payment to the Owner within 30 days after receipt of the Notice 
of Temporary Relocation.  

J. Within five (5) business days after receipt of the Tenant Household's completed 
Request for Relocation Payment form, the Owner shall make the initial Relocation 
payment directly to the Tenant Household as per Section 13.84.070, or follow the conflict 
resolution and appeal procedure as specified in Section 13.84.100.   

Section 13.84.060 Relocation payment Pprocedures for Voluntary Code 
Compliance

A. Whenever an Owner applies for a building permit to bring a Residential Unit or 
Room into code compliance, the Owner shall be required to specify whether repairs will 
necessitate the Tenant Household occupying the Unit or Room to Relocate. 

B. The City shall provide the Owner with a notice containing information about the 
Tenant Household’s Relocation rights pursuant to this Chapter, as well as a copy of this 
Chapter and a City contact number where additional information can be obtained.  

C. If the Owner determines that Relocation may be  is necessary to undertake repairs 
to bring the property into code compliance or as a result of fumigation, the Owner shall 
serve all affected Tenant Households with a Notice of Temporary Relocation, a copy of 
this Chapter, and a copy of the City’s Request for Relocation Payment form.  These 
documents shall be provided to Tenants at least thirty (30) days in advance of the required 
Relocation. Nothing in this Section shall relieve the Owner of their obligation to serve any 
notice that would otherwise be required pursuant to state or local law.

D. If the Tenant Household disagrees with the Owner’s determination of the necessity 
to Relocate, the Tenant Household may follow the conflict resolution and appeals 
procedure as specified in Section 13.84.100. 

E. The Owner must provide to the Building Official must receive acknowledgment(s) 
of receipt by the Tenant Household(s) of the documents required by subsection C of this 
Section before the City will issue the building permits necessary to undertake repairs. 
Such acknowledgment may be in the form of the Tenant Household's signature asserting 
receipt, or other proof substantiating that a Notice was delivered to the affected Tenant 
Household(s). 

F. Each Tenant Household which has been served with the Notice required by 
subdivision C or the Building Official’s determination pursuant to Section 13.84.100.A.3 
shall complete a Request for Relocation Payment form to calculate the amount of the 
initial payment to which the Household is entitled pursuant to the Berkeley Municipal Code 
Section 13.84.070.  The Tenant Household shall notify the Owner of the amount of 
payment to which the Tenant Household is entitled within 30 days of receipt of the Notice 
from the Owner.  

G. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the Tenant Household's completed Relocation 
Payment form, the Owner shall make the initial Relocation payment directly to the Tenant 
Household as per Section 13.84.070.C.5 or follow the conflict resolution and appeal 
procedure as specified in Section 13.84.100.  

Page 9 of 16

Page 79



6

H. The Relocation of a Tenant Household pursuant to this Chapter shall not terminate 
the tenancy of the Relocated Household.  The Relocated Household shall have the right 
to reoccupy the Unit or Room from which it was relocated as soon as the Unit or Room is 
ready for re-occupancy, except as set forth in Section 13.84.070.G.2. 

Section 13.84.070 Relocation and other payments
A. Households to be relocated for twenty-nine (29) consecutive days or less shall be 

entitled to the following Relocation payments:
1. A per diem payment to compensate for hotel or motel accommodations and meals. 

Such payment amount shall be established by City Council Resolution and be based upon 
Tenant Household size.  

2. Reimbursement for daily boarding costs for pets lawfully occupying the Unit or 
Room from which the Tenant Household was Relocated at the date of Relocation if the 
Tenant Household’s temporary accommodation does not accept pets. The Tenant 
Household shall receive reimbursement for reasonable boarding costs. The maximum 
reimbursement rate shall be established by City Council Resolution.  The Tenant 
Household must provide proof of the actual boarding costs incurred in order to receive 
reimbursement from the Owner. For purposes of this Section “pets” shall exclude any pet that 
is customarily kept in an enclosure such as a cage, terrarium or aquarium, and the number of pets 
lawfully occupying a Unit or Room shall be the number specifically permitted by written 
agreement.

3. Reimbursement for actual documented moving and storage expenses shall 
include both moving costs to the replacement unit(s) and moving costs back to the original 
Unit. Moving costs shall consist of actual reasonable costs of moving, including 
transportation of personal property, packing and unpacking, insurance of personal 
property while in transit, storage of personal property, and any additional reasonable 
costs associated with the required moving. Payments for a one-way move shall not 
exceed rates established in the Fixed Residential Moving Cost Schedule approved by the 
Federal Highway Administration and published in the Federal Register on a periodic 
basis.

4. The initial relocation payment shall be due within ten days ofupon the Owner’s 
receipt of the Tenant Household’s Request for Relocation Payment and shall include all 
projected expenses related to relocation as authorized by this chapter.  If the period of 
Relocation is less than 10 days, the initial Relocation payment shall include the per diem 
payment for the full period.  If the period of Relocation exceeds 10 days, the initial 
Relocation payment shall include either:

a. A lump sum per diem payment for the full period of Relocation, or 
b. The per diem payment for a minimum of 10 days, with subsequent payment 

contingent upon verification of hotel costs and other eligible costs incurred by the Tenant 
Household.  Such payments are due to the Tenant Household immediately upon Owner’s 
receipt of documentation verifying the Household’s expenses.  If the Tenant Household’s 
does not incur hotel costs, it is only that obtain replacement housing without cooking 
facilities are entitled to receive a meal allowance for each member of the Household 
during the remaining period of Relocation. 

Page 10 of 16

Page 80



7

B. Households to be relocated for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days or longer
shall be entitled to Relocation payments that include all of the following:

1. A one-time dislocation allowance to help defray incidental Relocation expenses.
The amount of the dislocation allowance shall be established by City Council Resolution.

2. The Household's choice of reimbursement for actual moving and storage
expenses or a fixed payment, subject to the following requirements:

a. If a fixed payment is chosen, no documentation of expenses is necessary.  The
amount of the fixed payments shall be established by City Council Resolution.

b. Reimbursement for actual documented moving and storage expenses shall
include both moving costs to the replacement unit(s) and moving costs back to the original 
Unit. Moving costs shall consist of actual reasonable costs of moving, including 
transportation of personal property, packing and unpacking, insurance of personal 
property while in transit, compensation for any damage occurring during moving, storage 
of personal property, disconnection and reconnection of utility services and any additional 
reasonable costs associated with the required moving. Payments for a one-way move 
shall not exceed rates established in the Fixed Residential Moving Cost Schedule 
approved by the Federal Highway Administration and published in the Federal Register 
on a periodic basis.

3. If the rental costs incurred by the Tenant Household during the period of Relocation
exceed the amount of rent being paid on the Unit or Room to be vacated, the Household 
shall be eligible for a rent differential payment.  The rent differential payment shall be 
equal to the difference between the rent paid on the Unit or Room to be vacated and the 
rent paid for a Unit or Room temporarily leased during the period of Relocation, with the 
following restrictions:  

a. The rent differential payment shall not exceed a ceiling established annually by the
City based on the average market rent statistics gathered and published by the Rent 
Stabilization Program for the prior calendar year. 

b. The ceiling for the rent differential payment shall be based on the bedroom size of
the Unit or Room to be vacated, with the exception of payments for Relocation from 
Rooms which shall be calculated on the same basis as payment for Relocation from a 
studio apartment.

c. The rent differential payment for a Tenant Household receiving a rental subsidy
shall be based on the amount of rent paid by the Tenant Household for the Unit or Room 
leased by the Tenant Household during the period of Relocation. The Owner may 
coordinate with the entity providing the subsidy to assure the continuity of the rental 
subsidies during the period of Relocation.

4. Reimbursement for the documented utility cost(s) that the Tenant Household
incurs in their replacement housing, if the Owner had been paying that particular utility 
cost for the vacated Unit or Room. Costs for disconnecting and reconnecting utilities as 
part of the construction work are the Owner’s responsibility even if the utility accounts are 
in the Tenant Household’s name. 

C. The initial Relocation payment pursuant to Subsection 13.84.070.B shall be due
within ten days of the Owner’s receipt of the Tenant Household’s Request for Relocation 
Payment, and shall include: 

1. The dislocation allowance;

Page 11 of 16

Page 81



8

2. Either the fixed payment for moving and storage costs if applicable, or payment for 
moving costs based on a reasonable estimate from a qualified professional mover; 

3. The rent differential payment for one month, or, if the Relocation is anticipated to 
exceed ninety days, then the initial payment shall include the rent differential payment for 
the first three month period. 

D. Subsequent payments for rent differential, utilities and storage costs pursuant to 
subdivisions B.2.b through B.4, when applicable, shall be made on a monthly basis 
thereafter.  Such payments shall be made at least 7 (seven) days in advance of when the 
Tenant Household’s monthly rental payment is due.  Instead of monthly payments the 
Owner may make one lump sum payment for the full amount due for the rent differential 
payments to the Tenant Household.  If the Tenant Household qualifies for reimbursement 
for monthly storage or utilities costs, these payments continue on a monthly basis or upon 
receipt by the Owner of documentation that verifies the Household’s expenses.

E. Payments pursuant to subdivisions B.2.b through B.4, when applicable, shall 
continue until such time that the Unit from which the Tenant Household was relocated is 
available for occupancy or the Tenant Household has notified the Owner of their intent to 
permanently vacate the Unit.  

F. If the Tenant Household has not been offered the opportunity to reoccupy the Unit 
from which it relocated within six (6) months from the date of their Relocation, the Tenant 
Household shall be entitled to receive an additional dislocation-allowance payment.  The 
Tenant Household must provide written request for the additional dislocation payment to 
the Owner which includes confirmation of their intent to reoccupy the Unit. Such payment 
is due within ten (10) days after receipt of the Tenant Household’s request. Acceptance 
of such payment does not constitute a Tenant Household’s relinquishment of any tenancy 
rights.

G. 1. In lieu of the per diem payments in subdivision A of this Section, or rent 
differential and utility payments in subsections B.3 and B.4 of this Section, the Owner may 
offer an alternate rental Unit or Room to the Tenant Household that is comparable to the 
Unit or Room being vacated and is owned by the Owner.  

1. The amount of rent paid by the Household for such Unit or Room shall not exceed 
the rent being paid on the Unit or Room from which the Tenant Household 
Relocated. 

2. If the Tenant Household accepts the Owner’s offer, the Tenant Household does 
not relinquish its right to re-occupy the Unit or Room from which it is being 
Relocated unless the Tenant Household provides written notice surrendering 
possession of the Unit or Room. 

3. A Tenant Household that accepts an alternate Unit or Room is entitled to receive 
the dislocation allowance in subdivision B.1 of this Section, and compensation for 
moving and storage costs if applicable as provided in subdivision B.2 of this 
Section. 

4. If the Tenant Household does not timely notify the Owner of its intent to reoccupy the 
Unit or Room under Section 13.84.090 and seeks to remain in its alternate unit, it thereby 
surrenders its right to reoccupy the Unit or Room from which it has relocated and 
terminates its tenancy of that Unit or Room, and the rent for the alternate Unit or Room 
shall not be limited by this Chapter and may be increased to an amount otherwise 

Page 12 of 16

Page 82



9

permissible by Chapter 13.76. Nothing in this Section limits the Owner’s right to evict a 
Tenant Household pursuant to Section 13.76.130.A.11.

H.  A Tenant Household that is Relocated for thirty (30) days or more shall not be 
responsible for any rent due on the Unit or Room from which it was Relocated during the 
period of Relocation and failure to pay rent during this period shall not constitute 
relinquishment of tenancy rights.

I. The Owner and Tenant Household may mutually agree upon temporary housing 
and Relocation payments other than that provided by this Chapter.  Such agreement shall 
be in writing and signed by both the Owner and Tenant Household with a copy provided 
to the City’s Housing and Community Services Department.

J. If a Tenant Household’s actual Relocation period is shorter than the period for 
which the Owner has paid, the Tenant Household must repay the overpaid amount to the 
Owner within thirty (30) days of receiving written notice from the Owner of the 
overpayment.  If the Tenant Household has incurred a financial obligation to pay rent, 
utilities, or storage costs during the remaining period of their Relocation, these costs may 
be deducted from the amount to be repaid to the Owner, subject to the provisions of 
subdivision B of this Section.

K. All payments to Tenant Households under this Chapter shall be made to those persons in 
the Tenant Household from whom the Owner has received rental payments during the immediately 
preceding rental period, in the same proportion in which such payments were made. The Owner 
shall have no liability or other obligation with respect to further division or allocation of such 
payments among the members of the Tenant Household. Nothing in this Section shall be construed 
to affect the determination of the actual number of Tenants in the Tenant Household for purposes 
of Chapter 13.76.

L. The size of a Tenant Household shall be determined based on the number of individuals 
entitled to occupy the Unit or Room at the time a determination of the building official is served 
under Section 13.84.050 or a Notice of Temporary Relocation is served under Section 13.84.060.C. 

M. Upon receipt of the full relocation payment under this Chapter and a Notice of 
Temporary Relocation, the tenant household shall relocate within 30 calendar 
days.  Failure to relocate pursuant to such notice may entitle the landlord to issue a notice 
to vacate and be a basis for good cause eviction pursuant to Section 13.76.130.A.7a.

N. The City Council shall by resolution adopt  a reasonable reimbursement rate for 
the following based upon surveys of prevailing costs for services, subject to limitations 
set forth in this Chapter and any additional limitations set forth in the Resolution:  

1. Per diem rates for hotel accommodations and meal allowance pursuant to 
subdivisions A.1 and A.3 of this Section; 

2. Maximum boarding costs for pets pursuant to subdivision A.2 of this Section;
3. Dislocation allowance pursuant to subdivision B.1 and F of this Section; 
4. Fixed payments for moving and storage pursuant to subdivision B.2 of this Section. 

Section 13.84.080 City’s involvement in Relocation payments 
A. The City may provide payment required by Section 13.84.070 to Tenant 

Households in situations where the Owner fails or refuses to pay for required Relocation 
costs. The City shall recover from the Owner all costs incurred as a result of making such 
payments. In order for the City to consider such payments, a request must be made by 

Page 13 of 16

Page 83



10

the Tenant Household to the City Manager or his or her designee within twenty (20) days 
from the Owner's failure or refusal to make the required payments as required in Sections 
13.84.050.F and 13.84.060.G. 

1. Upon receipt of a request from a Tenant Household the City shall mail a written 
notice to the Owner of the Owner's obligation under this Chapter to provide Relocation 
assistance and payment and the time when payment is required. The notice shall also 
specify that failure to make required payments may result in the City making such 
payments and recovering the costs of doing so from the Owner through a special 
assessment lien on the Owner’s property that shall include an administrative lien fee.

2. If within ten (10) days of the receipt of the notice 
provided pursuant to subdivision A.1 of this Section, the Owner continues to fail or refuse 
to make the necessary payments, the City may make the required Relocation payment to 
the Household. The City shall then bill the Owner for the amount of payment, plus any 
administrative and other costs it would not have otherwise incurred. If the Owner does 
not pay the City within a thirty (30) day period, the City may recover the costs as a special 
assessment lien on the Owner’s property along with an administrative lien fee in 
accordance with Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 1.24. The City Manager or his or her 
designee shall notify the Owner. 

Section 13.84.090 Move-back option
        A. The Relocation of a Tenant Household pursuant to this Chapter shall not 
terminate the tenancy of the Relocated Household.  The Relocated Household shall have 
the right to reoccupy the Unit or Room from which it was relocated as soon as the Unit or 
Room is ready for reoccupancy, and the Tenant Household shall retain all rights of 
tenancy that existed prior to the displacement. 

B. If a Household wishes to avail itself of this option, it must inform the Owner of its 
current address during the period of Relocation. 

C. For Tenant Households displaced for thirty consecutive days or more, Owners 
shall notify the Tenant Household at least thirty (30) days in advance of the availability of 
the Unit or Room. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice of availability, a Tenant 
Household must notify the Owner if it wishes to reoccupy the Unit or Room.  The Owner 
must hold the Unit or Room vacant at no cost to the Tenant Household for thirty (30) days 
from the date of the Tenant Household’s written notice of its intent to reoccupy the Unit 
or Room is received.  

D. For Households displaced for twenty-nine consecutive days or less and receiving 
a per diem payment, Owners shall notify the Household at least one day in advance of 
the availability of the Unit or Room.  The Household shall be entitled to receive a per diem 
payment for up to twenty-four hours after receiving such notice that the Unit or Room is 
ready for occupancy. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice of availability from the 
Owner, the Household must notify the Owner of its intent to reoccupy the Unit or Room. 
A Tenant Household shall be entitled to reimbursement for non-refundable costs 
associated with securing replacement housing based on the owner’s initial estimate of 
the duration of displacement.   

E. A Unit or Room shall be deemed to be permanently surrendered and the tenancy 
terminated, when the Tenant Household provides notice in writing to the Owner that it does 

Page 14 of 16

Page 84



11

not intend to reoccupy the Unit or Room from which it was relocated or does not notify the Owner 
of its intent to reoccupy the Unit or Room.  If the Owner has not made Relocation payments 
as required by this Chapter and the Unit or Room becomes permanently vacated, then it 
shall be presumed that the surrender of the right of possession of the Unit or Room was 
involuntary unless the Owner has received a written notice from the Tenant Household 
permanently surrendering its right to their Unit or Room.  

Section 13.84.100 Conflict Resolution and Appeal Procedures and Conflict 
Resolution for Voluntary Code Compliance

A.  Appeals under this Chapter related to Voluntary Code Compliance sshall be filed 
as set forth below.  Appeal procedures related to Code Enforcement Activity are 
addressed in Section 13.84.050. 

1. Appeals Related to Code Enforcement Activity. 
a. Any affected Tenant Household or Owner who disputes a determination made 

by the Building Official or Fire Marshal that relocation is either required or not  
required under this chapter under subsection A of this section, may file a written 
request for a hearing by the City Hearing Officer in accordance with Berkeley 
Municipal Code Section 19.44 only after attempting to resolve the issue through 
conflict resolution through the Rent Stabilization Board or any other appropriate 
entity.  Such request for hearing must be filed within ten (10) days of the date 
of the Notice from the Building Official or Fire Marshall, or ten (10) days after 
conflict resolution attempts have been exhausted.

b. Appeals of determinations by the Building Official or Fire Marshall of the 
necessity to relocate  due to an imminent threat to life and safety shall not delay 
enforcement of the order to vacate the premises by the Building Official or Fire 
Marshall.

2. Appeals Related to Voluntary Code Compliance 
3. If the Tenant Household disputes the Owner’s determination of the necessity for 

Relocation, or either party disputes the amount of Relocation payments or other terms of 
the Relocation, before submitting an appeal, the parties must the City may refer the 
parties toobtain a conflict resolution or mediation services provided through the Rent 
Stabilization Board or any other appropriate entity upon request by both parties for such 
referral in lieu of an appeal to the Building Official per subsection A.3 of this Section.  The 
purpose of such referral shall be the negotiation of a mutually acceptable agreement 
pertaining to the terms of the Relocation.  If no agreement is reached, then either party 
may follow the appeals procedure as set forth in this Section.  Nothing in this Chapter 
shall preclude the parties from meeting on their own at any time, with or without a 
mediator, in an attempt to resolve their disagreements.

4. If the Owner disagrees with the Tenant Household’s claim for Relocation 
payments, and such disagreement cannot be resolved through conflict resolution or 
mediation, then the Owner may file a written request for a hearing by the City Hearing 
OfficerHousing Advisory Commission as to the amount of the claim, or his or her 
responsibility for Relocation assistance pursuant to this Chapter.  Such a request must 
be filed within five ten (510) business days of the conclusion of mediation or within ten 

Commented [5]: Get input from Rent Board Staff.

Commented [6R6]: FYI, Matt Siegel and Jay K. were part of 
the committee that developed the recommendations.

Commented [7R6]: Make this section for all appeals. Can 
we make conflict resolution required BEFORE an appeal can 
be entertained?

Page 15 of 16

Page 85



12

(10) days of the Owner’s receipt of the Tenant Household’s claim of Relocation payments
as set forth in Sections 13.84.050.E or 13.84.060.F, whichever comes later.

5. If the Tenant Household disagrees with the Owner as to the necessity to Relocate,
and such disagreement cannot be resolved through conflict resolution or mediation, the 
Tenant Household may request in writing that the Building Official make a determination.  
Such request must be filed within five ten (510) business days of the conclusion of 
mediation, or within ten (10) days of the Tenant Household's receipt of the Relocation 
notice in Section 13.84.060.C, whichever comes later. The Building Official shall 
determine whether Relocation is necessary and the Owner shall serve all affected Tenant 
Households with a copy of the Building Official’s determination. This decision shall be 
final.

B. All hearings conducted before the City Hearing OfficerHousing Advisory
Commission shall follow the procedures outlined in BMC Section 19.44 and be scheduled 
for the next available meeting unless a postponement is agreed upon by all parties.  The 
Commission may convene a special meeting if delay of a hearing until the next regularly 
scheduled meeting would create a hardship. The Owner and all affected Tenant 
Households shall be notified of the time and place of the hearing at least ten (10) days 
before the date of hearing. The Commission shall render its decision on any such appeal 
within ten (10) days after the hearing on the appeal is closed. The Commission’s decision 
related to payments shall be final. The City Hearing Officer’s determination related to the 
Tenant’s Household need to relocate shall be sent to the Building Official or Fire Marshall 
for consideration and the Building Official or fire Marshall shall make the final decision if 
Relocation is required. 

C. Nothing in this Chapter shall in any way preclude or limit any aggrieved party from
seeking judicial review after such person has exhausted the administrative remedies 
provided by this Chapter. However, it shall be conclusively presumed that a litigant has 
not exhausted his/her administrative remedies as to any issue which is not raised in the 
administrative proceedings authorized herein.

Section 13.84.110 Private right of action
Any Tenant that believes that the provisions of this Chapter have been violated shall 

have the right to file an action for injunctive relief and/or damages. Treble damages may 
be awarded for willful failure to comply with the payment obligations established by this 
Chapter and for actual damages incurred by a Household as a result of the Owner’s willful 
failure to offer the Relocated Household the opportunity to reoccupy the Unit from which 
it relocated. In any action brought under this Chapter, the court may award reasonable 
attorney fees to any prevailing party. 

Section 13.84.120 Severability
If any provision of this Chapter is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by 

any court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of the Chapter shall not be 
invalidated.

Page 16 of 16

Page 86



            

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 21, 2023

LUHED

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmember Taplin, Councilmember Bartlett (co-author)

Subject: Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing 

RECOMMENDATION
1. Refer to the City Manager and the Planning Commission to study and return to 

Council potential amendments to the Berkeley Municipal Code and General Plan 
to further the City of Berkeley’s goals for affirmatively furthering fair housing with 
additional incentives for affordability and ownership opportunities, including first-
time homebuyers and households inheriting properties from relatives, in “Middle 
Housing” zoning categories. At a minimum, consider:

a. A local density bonus for on-site affordable housing for Middle Housing, 
including additional dwelling units, Floor Area Ratio, lot coverage, reduced 
or waived fees, and ministerial approval for projects with on-site deed-
restricted units affordable to Low- and Moderate-Income households, and 
incentives for first-time homebuyer opportunities. Consider regulating 
maximum buildable width and/or depth to disincentivize higher-cost 
dwelling units.

b. A density bonus for additional Accessory Dwelling Units in exchange for 
the inclusion of deed-restricted ADUs on-site affordable to Low- and 
Moderate-Income households. To the extent feasible, incorporate scope of 
study with Council’s referral to develop an Efficiency Unit Ordinance.

c. A density bonus for Middle Housing residential projects in which an owner-
occupier receives a minimum of in-kind compensation for the parcel with 
on-site ownership unit(s) in the project. Consider standard form 
agreements and other technical assistance.

d. Pre-approved designs for bonus-compliant projects.

e. Seek to leverage consistency and compatibility with state and regional 
resources including the Bay Area Housing Finance Authority (BAHFA), 
MTC/ABAG, AC Boost, and the CA Dream For All program.

2. Refer to the Fiscal Year 25/26 biennial budget process $250,000 for technical 
assistance.

Page 1 of 27 05

Page 87



Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
$250,000 or $125,000 per fiscal year, equivalent of one (1) FTE Senior Planner 
positions.

Berkeley’s 2023 Housing Element Update, Program 30: Accessory Dwelling Units, 
includes the following provision: “Providing one dedicated ADU planner to respond to 
questions and offering office hours and other educational programs for those interested 
in creating ADUs.”

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Developing incentives for affordable and equitable Middle Housing is a Strategic Plan 
Priority Project, advancing our goal to create affordable housing and housing support 
service for our most vulnerable community members.

Berkeley made insufficient progress on meeting its state-mandated Regional Housing 
Need Allocation (RHNA) goals for low- and moderate-income housing in the 2014-2022 
RHNA cycle. As recently as the city’s 2020 Housing Pipeline Report, the city had only 
fulfilled 23% of its moderate-income RHNA goals, 21% of its RHNA goals for Very-Low 
Income households, and a mere 4% for Low-Income households. Berkeley’s next 
RHNA cycle mandates roughly 3 times as many units as the previous cycle’s total of 
2,959 units across all income tiers.1

As of February 17, 2023, the City of Berkeley’s Housing Element Update contains 
Policy H-6, Low Income Homebuyers, under Goal A: Housing Affordability: “Support 
efforts that provide opportunities for successful home ownership.”

The Element also contains Policy H-29, Middle Housing, under Goal E: Affirmatively 
Furthering Fair Housing: “Promote and facilitate a mix of dwelling types and sizes, 
particularly infill middle housing in high resource neighborhoods.”

Further, the Element includes Policy H-32, under Goal F: Mitigate Governmental 
Constraints: “Provide incentives where feasible to offset or reduce the costs of 
affordable housing development, including density bonuses and flexibility in site 
development standards.”

Leveraging both policy frameworks together can more directly mitigate spatial 
inequalities stemming from local and regional histories of systemic racism and 
segregation. With rising land costs and varying lot sizes, opportunity site planning for 
subsidized affordable housing in Berkeley has tended to concentrate along commercial 
corridors. However, including incentives for additional affordability in Middle Housing 
could enable greater geographic equity in affordable housing distribution, with no public 
subsidy needed to break ground.

1 https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/draft_rhna_allocation_presentation_to_exec_bd_jan_21.pdf

Page 2 of 27

Page 88

https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/draft_rhna_allocation_presentation_to_exec_bd_jan_21.pdf


Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

BACKGROUND
The City of Portland, Oregon adopted its Residential Infill Project (RIP), a package of 
middle housing zoning reforms, in August of 2020. Portland’s residential zones now 
generally permit four dwelling units per parcel, with a Deeper Affordability density bonus 
for on-site affordable housing. This reform was strongly supported by Oregon’s 
affordable housing builders, including Habitat For Humanity, which is able to provide 
more first-time homeownership opportunities to lower-income households in Portland 
thanks to the additional density and economies of scale.2 A City of Portland staff report 
summarized: “These new housing types will complement existing neighborhoods. 
Smaller in size, they provide more choices for first-time homebuyers, downsizing empty-
nesters and middle-wage earners… Conversely, without allowing additional housing 
types to occur in single-dwelling neighborhoods, one conclusion is certain: When homes 
are demolished or when vacant sites are developed, the resulting redevelopment will 
result in only one house (likely large and expensive), when options for two, three or four 
households could have been built in its stead.”3

Data visualization from Sightline Institute

2 Andersen, M. (2020). Do Portland’s low-density zones need a deeper affordability option? Sightline 
Institute. Retrieved from https://www.sightline.org/2020/01/10/do-portlands-low-density-zones-need-a-
deeper-affordability-option/ 
3 https://www.portland.gov/bps/rip/documents/exhibit-b-volume-1-staff-report/download 

Page 3 of 27

Page 89

https://www.sightline.org/2020/01/10/do-portlands-low-density-zones-need-a-deeper-affordability-option/
https://www.sightline.org/2020/01/10/do-portlands-low-density-zones-need-a-deeper-affordability-option/
https://www.portland.gov/bps/rip/documents/exhibit-b-volume-1-staff-report/download


Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

“The same building envelope accommodates one, two, four, and eight units.” Opticos Design

The City of San Diego was able to incentivize affordable housing production through a 
residential density bonus by enabling additional Accessory Dwelling Units in exchange 
for deed-restricted affordable units, subject to state ADU streamlining provisions under 
AB-68. Citywide, the bonus allows one additional market-rate ADU in addition to one 
deed-restricted affordable ADU, with deed restriction periods varying by level of income 
restriction. Additionally, in Transit Priority areas, the ADU Bonus waives the upper limit 
on ADUs per project so long as each additional pair of units maintains the 1:1 
affordability ratio.

The UC Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation reports that San Diego’s ADU 
Bonus has permitted 295 deed-restricted affordable ADUs since its passage in 2020, 
roughly double the amount of ADUs permitted as a “base” project under state law.4 San 

4 Alameldin, M. & Underriner, Q. San Diego’s Success in Spurring Missing Middle Housing: The 
Accessory Dwelling Unit Bonus Program. UC Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation. Retrieved 
from https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/research-and-policy/san-diego-adu-bonus-program/

Page 4 of 27

Page 90

https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/research-and-policy/san-diego-adu-bonus-program/


  
Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

Diego’s ADU Bonus is similar to other “Backyard Infill” programs like the Portland RIP in 
that it “activates existing space by allowing lower density parcels to increase the number 
of homes without significantly impacting existing neighborhoods and structures”—
reducing a housing development’s potential disruption of “neighborhood character.”

 

San Diego ADU Bonus Data. Alameldin & Underriner (2023).

In addition to affordable rental housing, expanding first-time homeownership 
opportunities is critical for affirmatively furthering fair housing.

The racial wealth gap in the United States is primarily driven by inequitable access to 
homeownership, stemming from systemic exclusion in land use as well as 
discrimination in lending and appraisals.5 Subsidies for both supply and demand 
channels have been historically insufficient while support for American asset wealth 
primarily in white communities has been more robust and resilient. This has widened 
the racial wealth gap between white and Black households, and ultimately proved 
incompatible with universal housing security.

5 Ray, R. et al. (2021). Homeownership, racial segregation, and policy solutions to racial wealth equity. 
Brookings Institution. Retrieved from https://www.brookings.edu/essay/homeownership-racial-
segregation-and-policies-for-racial-wealth-equity/

Page 5 of 27

Page 91

https://www.brookings.edu/essay/homeownership-racial-segregation-and-policies-for-racial-wealth-equity/
https://www.brookings.edu/essay/homeownership-racial-segregation-and-policies-for-racial-wealth-equity/


Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

By way of example, the Great Recession of 2008/9 effected a significant transfer of 
wealth from lower-income Black homeowners6 targeted with predatory subprime loans 
to private equity firms7 buying up large portfolios of "distressed" properties before the 
economy recovered. This historical pattern of usury and community displacement has 
further excluded people of color from the fruits of economic recovery and deepens the 
racial wealth gap.

The California state legislature has recognized the importance of first-time homebuyers 
in its broader efforts to redress and repair the harms of historically racist institutions, 
most recently by establishing the CA Dream For All program to provide down payment 
assistance for first-time homebuyers statewide.

6 White, G.B. (2015). The Recession’s Racial Slant. The Atlantic. Retrieved from 
https://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2015/06/black-recession-housing-race/396725/ 
7 Warren, E. & Fife, C. (2020). Families see a looming catastrophe. Private equity firms see dollar signs. The 
Washington Post. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/08/06/nation-is-facing-
housing-crisis-private-equity-firms-just-see-dollar-signs/ 

Page 6 of 27

Page 92

https://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2015/06/black-recession-housing-race/396725/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/08/06/nation-is-facing-housing-crisis-private-equity-firms-just-see-dollar-signs/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/08/06/nation-is-facing-housing-crisis-private-equity-firms-just-see-dollar-signs/


  
Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

How the racial wealth gap manifests in homeownership: The homeownership rate for white Americans 
was 29% higher than for Black Americans in 2017. White homeowners also have higher property values 
on average, and the highest-earning homeowners receive the lion’s share of tax benefits.

However, high housing costs in Berkeley have significantly limited the efficacy of 
homeownership assistance programs. AC Boost, Alameda County’s Down Payment 
Assistance loan program, limits its maximum loan amount to $160k-$210k for a 0-3% 
down payment. In AC Boost’s first and second funding cycles, out of 17 Berkeley 

Page 7 of 27

Page 93



Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

residents who submitted complete applications, 3 have purchased homes in 
neighboring cities, but not in Berkeley.8 

Because condominiums offer significantly more affordable prices for first-time 
homebuyers compared to single-family homes, the Berkeley City Council recently 
updated its Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee to eliminate the discrepancy between 
ownership and rental units that disincentivized condo construction. 

Encouraging equitable condominium ownership models can strengthen the City’s efforts 
to reduce displacement and promote community-based generational wealth-building 
and accommodating growing families in historically disadvantaged areas. Neighbors 
adjacent to new development often anecdotally report that they fear the pressure to “sell 
out” to highly capitalized institutional investors, or otherwise lament the erosion of 
familiar community bonds. Thus, one policy mechanism for consideration is incentivizing 
a “land for housing” or “flats-for-land” swap in which an owner-occupier can cash in part 
of their home equity without displacement by receiving condominium units on-site as 
partial compensation from a developer for their property. 

Modern flats-for-land exchanges emerged as equity financing in lieu of a public housing 
program in postwar Greece, after two world wars and a civil war left the state without 
resources and banks without credit lines to build housing for a rapidly growing urban 
population. Under the antiparochi system, homeowners in Athens, Thessaloniki, and 
other cities sold their land to developers with partial compensation provided with a deed 
to one or several units in the resulting polikatoikía apartment buildings. This increased 
housing available for migrants and refugees as well as employment opportunities in the 
construction sector. Research has found that the “flats-for-land” model enabled 
substantially increased housing supply and GDP per capita in postwar Greece.9

Antiparochi illustration10

8 https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-11-
03%20Item%2026%20Budget%20Referral%20Down%20Payment%20Assistance.pdf 
9 Petris, P., et al. (2020). The "flats-for-land" system in Greece: An idiosyncratic equity financing 
mechanism in the post-War period, The Journal of European Economic History, ISSN 2499-8281, 
Associazione Bancaria Italiana, Roma, Vol. 49, Iss. 2, pp. 175-202. Retrieved from 
https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/231559/1/49-2020-2-175-202.pdf 
10 CoHab Athens. Antiparochi. Retrieved from https://cohabathens.org/portfolio/antiparochi-land-for-flat/ 

Page 8 of 27

Page 94

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-11-03%20Item%2026%20Budget%20Referral%20Down%20Payment%20Assistance.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-11-03%20Item%2026%20Budget%20Referral%20Down%20Payment%20Assistance.pdf
https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/231559/1/49-2020-2-175-202.pdf
https://cohabathens.org/portfolio/antiparochi-land-for-flat/


Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing March 21, 2023

While statewide construction defect reform11 would likely be needed to further increase 
the scale of condominium construction in California, the City of Berkeley could study 
incentives and provide technical assistance for similar exchanges.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
In an analysis of 252 California Cities, Durst (2021) finds that “each additional affordable 
housing incentive is associated with a 0.37 percentage point decrease in the share of 
workers who commute more than 30 minutes.”12

AC Boost’s down payment assistance fund includes incentives to reduce Vehicle Miles 
Traveled (VMT) while mitigating displacement by encouraging home purchases close to 
jobs and public transit. According to Wheeler et al (2018), the urban core of the San 
Francisco Bay Area (including Berkeley) contains some of the lowest carbon emissions 
per capita in California, making urban infill housing a key policy lever for cities to reduce 
carbon footprints by reducing VMT per capita.13 Preventing displacement from Berkeley 
also prevents increased emissions from households who otherwise may be priced out to 
areas with higher per capita emissions.

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Taplin Council District 2 510-981-7120
Councilmember Bartlett Council District 3 510-981-7130

ATTACHMENTS
1. City of Portland Ordinance 190093, Adopted August 12, 2020
2. Build Small Coalition Letter Re: Residential Infill Project 2.0 (4/14/2022)
3. City of San Diego Staff Report - Housing Legislation Code Update to the Municipal
Code and Local Coastal Program (9/9/2020)

11 Parolek, D. (2020). Missing middle housing: Thinking big and building small to respond to today’s 
housing crisis. Island Press.
12 Durst, N. J. (2021). Residential Land Use Regulation and the Spatial Mismatch between Housing and 
Employment Opportunities in California Cities. UC Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation. 
Retrieved from 
http://californialanduse.org/download/Durst%20Residential%20Land%20Use%20Regulation%202020.pdf
13 Wheeler, S. M., Jones, C. M., & Kammen, D. M. (2018). Carbon footprint planning: quantifying local 
and state mitigation opportunities for 700 California cities. Urban Planning, 3(2), 35-51.

Page 9 of 27

Page 95

http://californialanduse.org/download/Durst%20Residential%20Land%20Use%20Regulation%202020.pdf


ORDINANCE No. 190093 As Amended  

Amend the Comprehensive Plan, Comprehensive Plan Map, Zoning Map, Title 33 Planning and 
Zoning, and Title 30 Affordable Housing, to revise the Single-Dwelling Residential designations 
and base zones. (Ordinance; amend Code Title 33, Title 30 and amend the Portland Comprehensive 
Plan and zoning maps) 

The City of Portland Ordains: 

Section 1.  The Council finds: 

General Findings 

1. Portland is expected to grow by more than 100,000 households by the year 2035.
2. The cost of housing in Portland is rising. The average cost of rent in Portland increased

by 5 percent or more between 2012 and 2016, and by 2 percent in 2017. Between 2011
and 2018, the median home sale price citywide rose 60 percent — or more than
$150,000. As of 2018, the median home sale price exceeded $475,000 in more than half
the neighborhoods in the city. In order to afford the median price home in Portland today,
families must earn 130% to 160% of the median family income.

3. In addition, the city’s history of racially discriminatory decision-making and public
policies have contributed to today’s racial disparities in homeownership rates and wealth
attainment and has resulted in geographic racial segregation in Portland.

4. For these reasons, the ability for many households to gain entry into many of the city’s
single-dwelling neighborhoods is increasingly out of reach.

5. At the same time, the city is becoming more diverse, the overall population is aging, and
the number of people per household is getting smaller.

6. The Comprehensive Plan includes policies directed toward encouraging more housing
choices to accommodate a wider diversity of family sizes, incomes and ages (Policy
4.15); encourage development and preservation of small resource-efficient and affordable
single-family homes in all areas of the city (Policy 4.18); expanding housing choice in all
of Portland’s neighborhoods (Policy 5.4); encouraging middle housing—multi-unit or
clustered residential buildings that provide relatively smaller, less expensive units (Policy
5.6); and encouraging a variety of ownership opportunities and choices (Policy 5.43).

7. Nearly half of the city’s land area is zoned for single-dwelling residential development,
however, apartments are the predominant housing type being built in Portland—74
percent of all units built in 2016.

8. Portland’s single-dwelling zoning currently allows up to two dwelling units per lot—one
house and one accessory dwelling unit, or in some cases, a duplex on a corner. And yet,
due to the high cost of land, the size of dwelling units continues to increase, and the price
of the units is higher than most Portlanders can afford.

9. In 2015, the Bureau of Planning and Sustainability began the Residential Infill Project
with the goal of responding to these trends and changing demographics. Then-Mayor
Charlie Hales appointed a Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC) to assist the Bureau
of Planning and Sustainability in developing a plan to amend the city’s single-dwelling

Page 10 of 27

Page 96



zoning code to alleviate the rising cost of housing and reduce the size of new houses. The 
SAC met 14 times between September 2015 and October 2016. 

10. The Residential Infill Project Concept Plan was released for public review on June 15, 
2016. City Council held public hearings on the concept plan in November 2016 and 
passed Resolution No. 37252 on December 7, 2016 endorsing the concepts in the plan. 

11. The Residential Infill Project Proposed Draft was released for public review on April 2, 
2018. 

12. On April 2, 2018 notice of the proposed draft was mailed to the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development in compliance with the post-acknowledgement review 
process required by OAR 660-18-020. 

13. On April 4, April 9, and April 11, 2018 notice of the proposed draft was mailed to all 
property owners potentially affected by proposed zoning map and code changes as 
required by ORS 227.186.   

14. On May 8, 2018 and May 15, 2018, the Planning and Sustainability Commission held 
public hearings on the proposed draft. In addition, the Commission held 2 briefings and 9 
work sessions before voting to forward the Residential Infill Project to City Council on 
March 12, 2019.   

15. The Residential Infill Project Recommended Draft was released for public review on 
August 2, 2019. 

16. On October 9, 2019 a revised notice of the recommended draft was mailed to the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development in compliance with the post-
acknowledgement review process required by OAR 660-18-045. 

17. On December 12, 2019 notice of the January 15, 2020 and January 16, 2020 City Council 
public hearings was mailed to those who presented oral and written testimony at the 
Planning and Sustainability Commission public hearing. In addition, the City emailed 
notice of the hearing to its Residential Infill Project email list. 

18. The Residential Infill Project amendments allow up to six dwelling units per lot (based on 
lot sizes and affordability level) in the R7, R5 and R2.5 zones, and allows the units to be 
arranged in multiple configurations including a single structure with up to six dwelling 
units or a combination of a primary and accessory structure.  

19. The amendments provide opportunities for a wider variety of housing options and can 
reduce the cost of a single unit by roughly half the cost of a single new house. 

20. The amendments encourage additional regulated affordable housing units.  
21. The amendments also include a cap on house size by limiting the amount of floor area 

allowed per lot in the R7, R5 and R2.5 zones. The cap is intended to ensure that: 

• Additional development in these zones is compatible with existing development; 
and  

• Additional dwelling units are affordable to a wider cross-section of Portland 
residents because smaller dwelling units are often less expensive than larger units.   

22. The Residential Infill Project also rezones approximately 7,000 lots from R5 to R2.5. The 
rezoned lots are narrow, platted lots—generally 2,500 square feet in size—that are 
substandard for the R5 zones. The rezoning is intended to increase opportunities for 

190093Page 11 of 27

Page 97



homeownership as dwelling units on these lots are generally smaller and therefore less 
expensive. 

23. The amendments also help the city to comply with the following: 

• House Bill 2001, which the Oregon State Legislature passed on August 8, 2019, and 
requires cities with a population greater than 10,000 to allow duplexes on any lot 
zoned for single-family dwellings; and 

• Senate Bill 534, which the Oregon State Legislature passed on July 23, 2019, and 
requires local governments to allow single-family dwellings on residential lots 
platted and zoned for such uses.  

24. The Findings of Fact Report, attached as Exhibit A, includes additional findings 
demonstrating consistency with the Statewide Planning Goals, Metro Urban Growth 
Management Functional Plan, and the City of Portland 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

25. The amendments to Title 30 are necessary to extend the Deeper Housing Affordability 
FAR Density Program to the single-dwelling zones to support the Affordable Fourplexes 
and Multi-dwelling Structures Residential Infill Option. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Council directs: 

a. Adopt amended Exhibit A, dated July 2020, as additional findings. 
b. Amend the Portland Comprehensive Plan as shown in Exhibit B, Residential Infill 

Project As-Amended Draft, dated July 2020. 
c. Adopt the commentary in Exhibit B, Residential Infill Project As-Amended Draft, 

dated July 2020, as legislative intent and further findings.  
d. Amend Title 33, Planning and Zoning, of the Municipal Code of the City of Portland, 

as shown in Exhibit B, Residential Infill Project As-Amended Draft, dated July 2020, 
but excluding the amendments to Section 33.110.212 (When Primary Structures are 
Allowed), Chapter 33.675 (Lot Consolidation), Chapter 33.676 (Lot Confirmation), 
and the amendments to the lot-related and lot line-related definitions in 33.910 
(Definitions).  

e. Amend Section 33.110.212 (When Primary Structures are Allowed), Chapter 33.675 
(Lot Consolidation), Chapter 33.676 (Lot Confirmation), and the lot-related and lot 
line-related definitions in Chapter 33.910 (Definitions) as shown in Exhibit B, 
Residential Infill Project As-Amended Draft, dated July 2020. 

f. Amend the Portland Comprehensive Plan Map as shown on Exhibit C. 
g. Amend the official Zoning Map as shown on Exhibits D and E. 
h. Amend Title 30, Affordable Housing Preservation and Portland Renter Protections, of 

the Municipal Code of the City of Portland, as shown in Exhibit B, Residential Infill 
Project, As-Amended Draft, dated July 2020. 

 
Section 2. Directives b, d, f, g, and h shall be in full force and effect on August 1, 2021. 
Directives a, c, and e shall be in full force and effect 30 days after final passage by City Council.  
 
Section 3. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, diagram or drawing contained in 
this ordinance, or the map, report, inventory, analysis, or document it adopts or amends, is held 

190093Page 12 of 27

Page 98



to be deficient, invalid or unconstitutional, that shall not affect the validity of the remaining 
portions. The Council declares that it would have adopted the map, report, inventory, analysis, or 
document each section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, diagram and drawing thereof, 
regardless of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, 
diagrams or drawings contained in this Ordinance, may be found to be deficient, invalid or 
unconstitutional. 

Passed by the Council: August 12, 2020

Mayor Ted Wheeler 
Prepared by: Morgan Tracy 
Date Prepared: December 12, 2019 

Mary Hull Caballero 
Auditor of the City of Portland 
By  

Deputy 

190093Page 13 of 27

Page 99



V 

y,-, ..... 

--511 � --1--tt- 8 ---------------r-r�..

Agenda No. 
ORDINANCE NO. 

Title 
Amend the Comprehensive Plan, Comprehensive Plan Map, Zoning Map, Title 33 Planning and Zoning, and Title 30
Affordable Housing, to revise the Single-Dwelling Residential designations and base zones.  (Ordinance; amend Code Title

33, and Title 30 and Portland Comprehensive Plan and zoning maps)

INTRODUCED BY 
Commissioner/Auditor: 
Mavor Wheeler 

COMMISSIONER APPROVAL 

CLERK USE: DATE FILED JAN O 7 2019

Mary Hull Caballero 
Maver-Finance & Administration - Wheele/�, 

V Auditor of the City of Portland 

Position 1/Utilities - Fritz 

Position 2M/or'Ks - ' 

Position 3/Affairs - Hardesty 

Position 4/Safetv - Eudalv 

BUREAU APPROVAL 

Bureau: Planning and Sustainability 
Bureau Head: Andrea Dur��\(\

\ ,.J " 
Prepared by: Morgan Tracy 
Date Prepared: 12/12/19 
Impact Statement 
Completed � Amends Budget D

Portland Policy Document 
If "Yes· requires City Policy paragraph stated 
in document. 
Yes D No 181 
City Auditor Office Approval: 
required for Code Ordinances 

, City Attorney Approval: 
required for contract, code, easemen�-franchise, comp plan, charter l 

Council Meeting Date January 15,
2020 

AGENDA 

TIME CERTAIN 181 
Start time: 2:00 pm 

Total amount of time needed: 3 hours 
(for presentation, testimony and discussion) 

CONSENT □ 

REGULAR □ 

Total amount of time needed: --
(for presentation, testimony and discussion) 

By: 
� 

ACTION TAKEN: 

JAN 15 2020 Continued to January 16, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. Time Certain 

JAN 16 2020 
Continued to January 29, 2020 at 2:00 pm Time Certain 

JAN 2 S 2020 Continued to February 12, 2020 at 2:00 pm Time Certain 

FEB 1 2 2D20 coNTINUJ!D TO 
MAR 1 2 2020 2 PJff

lfKE... CB'Z-I�\ N 
MAR 12 2020 Rescheduled to date to be determined 

FOUR-FIFTHS AGENDA COMMISSIONERS VOTED 
AS FOLLOWS: 

YEAS NAYS 

1. Fritz 1. Fritz 

2. 2. \/o.cc...c-.-t 

3. Hardesty 3. Hardesty

4. Eudaly 4. Eudaly 

Wheeler Wheeler 

429 457 494 551 648

June 3, 2020 Continued to June 11, 2020 at 2:40 p.m. Time Certain 
June 11, 2020 Rescheduled to June 18, 2020 at 2 p.m. Time Certain 
June 18, 2020 Continued to July 9, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. Time Certain

July 9, 2020 Continued to August 5, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. Time Certain 
As Amended

August 5, 2020 Passed to Second Reading August 12, 2020 at 9:45 
a.m. Time Certain As Amended

654

X

X

X
X

190093 As Amended

Page 14 of 27

Page 100



Members of the Build Small Coalition
Re: Residential Infill Project 2.0

April 14, 2022

Dear Mr. Mayor and Portland City Commissioners,

Firstly, everyone who has worked on RIP1 and/or RIP2 should be proud: Portland has exhibited
extraordinary leadership, spurring reforms statewide and around the country. Since RIP1
passage, many cities and multiple other states have introduced legislation (re)legalizing
“missing” middle housing types. We specifically wish to thank both BPS and the utility bureaus
in advance for their continued work to help with the collective goal of making middle housing
development a reality.

While we understand the more limited scope of RIP2 relative to the HB 2001 deadline, we
encourage this Council to consider whether we are poised to deliver on the promises of RIP1 and
address our ongoing housing crisis. We must do everything in our power to both prevent the
housing shortage from becoming more acute, while doing all we can to open up below-market
rental and homeownership opportunities in ALL our neighborhoods.

We have gained new information since RIP1 went into effect, and we should apply those lessons
with this update. A few minor changes should be considered to improve rules and incentives, with
a laser focus on affordable housing production. The recommendations below are focused on the
viability of recently-legalized middle housing options, and on improving performance of rules and
incentives for regulated-affordable homes:

Summary of key changes for affordability:

● Achieve FAR (home size) parity and improve viability of four-plexes,
● Create feasible development paths for affordable 5- to 6-plexes, and
● Fully implement SB 458 to remove barriers for affordable, fee-simple attached homes.

1. Graduate FAR for four-plexes: allow up to 0.8 FAR (from 0.7)
a. Maintain bonus of additional 0.1 FAR (to 0.9) if regulated affordable

Narrative:  Floor Area Ratio (or “living area”) in single-dwelling zones is currently graduated
according to the number of homes, giving +0.1 FAR for duplexes above single-detached homes, and
an additional +0.1 FAR for triplexes and above. Permitting an additional +0.1 FAR for four-plexes
above triplexes would greatly increase feasibility of more 2- and 3-bedroom, family sized homes.
Four-plexes carry some additional benefits with them: Unlike duplexes and triplexes, four-plexes
must meet Fair Housing Act requirements for accessibility of ground-floor homes. Land and fixed
costs are also shared among more units, further lowering price per home. While we appreciate that
one goal of the FAR limits is to keep plex units relatively small and inexpensive, the lack of FAR for
four-plexes may have the unintended consequence of making other redevelopment options, such as

Page 15 of 27

Page 101



a comparatively expensive single- detached home, more compelling than a plex of any type: As of
February 8, permits under RIP1 had only yielded 16 four-plexes compared with 80 single-detached
homes with no ADUs.

2. Ensure that development standards for qualifying five-to-six-unit projects meeting
affordability standards are feasible - both stacked and side-by-side. To qualify a project must
must be either:

● 50% or more homes at 60% MFI rental/ 80% MFI ownership, or
● 100% of units at 100% MFI ownership, permanently up to 120% MFI

a. Create standards for affordable two-story side-by-side “townhome-style” plexes.
This would yield some three-bedroom but mostly two-bedroom homes:

i. 1.2 FAR
ii. 65% lot coverage

iii. 5 foot front setbacks (5 foot setbacks all round)
iv. 48 sf outdoor space per unit, overlapping with setbacks,

b. Create standards for affordable three-story, smaller footprint “townhome-style”
plexes. This would yield up to six three-bedroom homes:

i. 1.4 FAR
ii. 60% lot coverage

iii. 10 foot front setback
iv. Unchanged outdoor space, and

c. Improve standards for affordable five-to-six-plex stacked flats (only development
type allowed currently). This would yield more affordable three-bedroom homes:

i. Increase FAR to 1.4 (currently 1.2)
ii. Other standards remain unchanged

Narrative: We should be tailoring our code to maximize affordable rental and first-time
homeownership opportunities, and to accommodate differences in physical ability and household
size. These standards will allow flexibility, on a standard lot, for nonprofit organizations working to
meet community-specific needs and preferences - whether they be one’s own front door in a
townhome or a fully physically accessible stacked flat. Portland did a potentially revolutionary thing
in legalizing up to six homes with an aggressive affordability requirement. To realize its full benefit,
and to serve as many income-qualifying households as we can, we must ensure that development
standards are suitable and flexible. Portland must also invest in lasting affordability, or our efforts
will be lost too soon given the market trends. This is especially important to Portland’s stated
commitments to equity and to addressing the racial disparity gap in homeownership.

3. Create a path for affordable attached homes, mirroring the development standards in
#2(a)&(b) per historical PSC Amendment 5. For only those attached home projects that meet
the affordability requirements identified for five-to-six-plexes:

a. Adjust minimum lot sizes for each attached house to 800 sf
b. Increase allowed density to match minimum lot sizes,
c. Reduce minimum lot depth to 50 feet, and
d. Incorporate any other small adjustments to match #2(a)&(b).

Page 16 of 27

Page 102



Narrative: In addition to the innovative “deeper affordability bonus” for five- and six-plexes, we
recommend permitting analogous five to six unit attached home projects that meet the same
affordability levels. These projects are most likely to occur on corner lots where each home can
meet street frontage requirements, creating opportunities for first-time homeownership and having
one’s own front door - priorities explicitly expressed by community members accessing these
homes. This suggestion, together with #2 above and #4 below, also helps fulfill the stated goals of
historical PSC Amendment 5, creating a fee-simple path for affordable five-to-six home projects.
The concept was supported by the PSC, who directed staff to keep working on it.

4. Fully implement SB 458 to permit expedited Middle Housing Land Divisions (MHLDs) for all
attached house projects, including both market-rate and affordable (per the development
standards proposed in #2 above).

Narrative: SB 458 clearly requires that townhouses be eligible for middle housing expedited land
divisions, in addition to duplexes, triplexes, four-plexes and cottage clusters. Springfield, Eugene,
and many other cities are proposing to make townhouses eligible for middle housing land divisions,
regardless of the fact that townhouses can already use the existing subdivision and partition
process. Implementing the expedited process for a townhouse project consisting of up to six units
on an existing lot would be significant in reducing time and costs for townhouse creation. The
express intent of SB 458 is to allow a path to facilitate easier land divisions for middle housing
types, and HB 2001 clearly defines a townhouse as middle housing. In the midst of a housing crisis,
why wouldn’t we do everything that we can to facilitate more efficient paths for affordable
homeownership where feasible?

Attached homes in Portland are also known as “Townhouse Projects” according to the State. To
quote OAR 660-046-0020 "“Townhouse Project” means one or more townhouse structures
constructed, or proposed to be constructed, together with the development site where the land
has been divided, or is proposed to be divided, to reflect the Townhouse property lines and any
commonly owned property."

Summary of additional code improvements:

● Adjust ADU size allowances for fairness to smaller homes and for visitability,
● Adjust cottage cluster standards for better site layout and flexibility,
● Improve strategies to preserve existing homes while adding new ones,
● Allow for shared stormwater and single tap into main for sewer and water, and
● Calculate lot coverage based on pre-dedication lot size.

5. Adjustments to ADU size for visitability and fairness for smaller homes:
a. Allow a visitable (or fully accessible) ADU up to 900 sf of living area,
b. Calculate ADU size from combined duplex living area, not larger of two, and
c. Improve “ADU fairness” by allowing up to 800 sf or up to size of the primary house.

Narrative:  While the new “detached duplex” option creates a valuable new path for fee simple
homeownership, it doesn’t eclipse the need to refine ADU standards, providing flexibility to meet
different needs:  (a) Given the extra sf needed for a visitable ADU, increasing the size to 900 sf will
ensure that other spaces in the home are not impacted by the visitable requirement. The 900 sf
building size also complements the PSC’s amendment allowing a 900 sf footprint for accessory

Page 17 of 27

Page 103



structures. Together, this makes a two bedroom, one-story, fully accessible ADU much more feasible.
(b) There are many smaller duplexes throughout Portland with potential to add an ADU. We
propose that the livable sf of the duplex (both units combined) be used to calculate the maximum
size of the ADU in order to increase preservation of existing homes. This will ensure that an ADU is
in proportion to the combined existing duplex structure.  (c) In order not to penalize owners of
smaller homes, make maximum ADU size 800 sf or that of the primary home, whichever is smaller.
This is still smaller than many jurisdictions (e.g. Seattle (1,000 sf), San Diego (1,200 sf), and Corvallis
(900 sf or 85% of primary, whichever is less)) but can still accommodate two bedrooms. If not
possible, then increase ADU size up to 85% of the main house (vs.75% allowed currently) or 800 sf.

6. Adjust “cottage cluster” standards for better site flexibility, and label “cluster housing” for
greater accuracy per statewide middle housing definitions:

a. Allow up to 50% of cottages to be attached
b. Set maximum number of units relative to site size (instead of blanket 16 unit cap)
c. Allow small clusters (four or fewer) on lots under 5,000 sf

Narrative:  a) Allowing some cottages to be attached allows for much greater flexibility in layout and
design, including considerations such as terrain, local context, large tree preservation, and more.  b)
While we understand the regulatory complexities surrounding density, a blanket cap makes less
sense than a graduated approach proportional to site area.  c) Finally, allowing tiny cottage clusters
on smaller lots echoes recently-reduced minimum lot sizes for other middle housing types.

7. Improve strategies to preserve existing homes by building behind them.
a. Allow attached duplexes and triplexes to be built behind the existing house.

8. Allow for shared stormwater and private sewer lateral with multiple connections (single tap
into main) for sewer & water.

Narrative: Allowing for a shared private sewer lateral with a single connection to the main within an
easement, with each middle housing unit tapping into the shared lateral, avoids the expense (and
lack of street frontage) that would be associated with individual laterals/connections for each unit.
Many attached- and courtyard-style homes being built now already do this.

9. Calculate lot coverage based on pre-dedication lot size to match how FAR is calculated.

Thank you for your ongoing work and dedication to housing our full community, affordably.

Signed, (continued on next page)

Preston Korst, Habitat for Humanity

Diane Linn, Proud Ground Community Land Trust

Douglas MacLeod and Madeline Kovacs, UrbanRoost Development LLC

Alexis Biddle, 1000 Friends of Oregon

Elizabeth Decker, JET Planning

Kol Peterson, Accessory Dwelling Strategies

Eric Thompson, Oregon Homeworks

Page 18 of 27

Page 104



Neil Heller, Neighborhood Workshop

Shane Boland, Owen Gabbert LLC

Jill Cropp, Studio Cropp Architecture

Annie Fryman, Abodu

Sean Heyworth and Mike Mitchoff, Portland Houseworks

John Miller, BackHome ADU

Garlynn Woodsong, Woodsong Associates

Dirk Knudsen, Dirk Knudsen Real Estate

Joe Wykowski, Community Vision

Page 19 of 27

Page 105



            
The City of San Diego

Staff Report

Page 1 of 8

DATE ISSUED: 9/9/2020

TO: City Council

FROM: Planning

SUBJECT: Housing Legislation Code Update to the Municipal Code and Local Coastal Program

Primary
Contact:

Kelley Stanco Phone: (619) 236-6545

Secondary Contact: Brian Schoenfisch Phone: (619) 533-6457 

Council District(s):        Citywide

OVERVIEW:
The Housing Legislation Code Update Package addresses California State housing law requirements, 
including a number of bills passed at the end of 2019. These include changes to State density bonus, 
housing for the homeless, and accessory dwelling unit laws, along with other miscellaneous housing laws. 
The Housing Legislation Code Package will provide amendments to the City’s Municipal Code and Local 
Coastal Program that are required to implement and comply with State law, as well as additional 
amendments tailored to address local needs.

PROPOSED ACTIONS:
Approve the proposed Housing Legislation Code Update to the Municipal Code and Local Coastal Program.

DISCUSSION OF ITEM:
The Land Development Code (LDC) provides the City's regulations for the development and use of property 
within the City of San Diego and provides information on zoning, subdivisions, grading and other related 
land use activities.  The LDC is updated regularly through comprehensive updates that promote in-fill 
development and streamline the permitting process, and through single-issue or topic-specific updates as 
needed. 
 
The California state legislature passed a number of land use and housing laws in 2019 that became effective 
January 1, 2020. These laws primarily address accessory dwelling units, affordable housing, and supportive 
housing for the homeless, as well as requirements to preserve dwelling units and “protected dwelling units” 
affordable to very low- and low-income households. Local implementation of these laws is mandatory and 
amending the LDC to reflect the requirements of these laws will provide clarity for staff, applicants, decision-
makers and the public at large. Additionally, while reviewing the applicable state laws and drafting the 
proposed LDC amendments, staff identified some areas where the LDC is no longer in conformance with 
the latest state law provisions and the Housing Legislation Code Update package addresses those issues. 
Lastly, where permitted, the package also includes adaptations and incentives to address local housing 
needs. 
 

Page 20 of 27

Page 106



Page 2 of 8

The Housing Legislation Code Update Package is grouped into four issue areas: Housing for the Homeless, 
Affordable Housing Regulations, Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units, and 
Miscellaneous Housing Items.  A brief summary of the proposed amendments is provided below. 

I. Housing for the Homeless

The following LDC amendments address items related to housing for the homeless:

 Low Barrier Navigation Centers

Assembly Bill (AB) 101, passed in 2019, requires local jurisdictions to permit Low Barrier
Navigation Centers that connect individuals experiencing homelessness with transitional
housing by-right in mixed-use and commercial zones that permit multi-family. The Housing
Legislation Code Update Package would amend the LDC to define Low Barrier Navigation
Centers as a new Separately Regulated Residential Use and permit them, by-right, as a
Limited Use in all zones required by AB 101.

 Emergency Shelters

Senate Bill 2, passed in 2007, requires local jurisdictions to identify a zone or zones where
emergency shelters are allowed by-right without a conditional use or other discretionary
permit. The zones which permitted emergency shelters as a by-right use were located
primarily within the Midway-Pacific Highway Community, which was rezoned with the
recent comprehensive update to the Community Plan. The Housing Legislation Code
Update Package would amend the Community Commercial (CC) base zone tables to permit
emergency shelters by-right as a Limited Use in all CC zones in order to provide adequate
capacity in compliance with SB 2.

 Transitional Housing and Permanent Supportive Housing

AB 2162, passed in 2018, requires local jurisdictions to permit Transitional Housing
Facilities (THF) and Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) by-right in all zones that permit
multi-family development. The City implemented the requirements of AB 2162 in 2019 with
the 12th Update to the LDC, Phase 1; however, staff has subsequently identified several
zones that were inadvertently excluded. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package
would amend the RM Base Zone Use Table to permit THF in the RM-5-12 zone; the
Industrial Base Zone Use Table to permit THF by-right as a Limited Use in the IP-3-1 base
zone and clarify that THF and PSH are subject to the requirements of footnote 15 related
to residential development; and the Mixed-Use Base Zone Use Table to permit THF and
PSH by-right as Limited Uses.

II. Affordable Housing Regulations (AHR)

The following LDC amendments address items related to the City’s Affordable Housing Regulations:

 Density Bonus for 100% Affordable Projects (Pre-Density Bonus)

AB 1763, passed in 2019, requires local jurisdictions to provide a new density bonus
program that grants a density bonus of 80% outside of Transit Priority Areas (TPAs) and
an unlimited bonus within TPAs to projects that construct at least 100% of the pre-density
bonus units as affordable to very low income and low income households, except that 20%
may be reserved for moderate income households. Eligible projects are also required to
receive 4 incentives and within TPAs, 3 additional stories or 33’ in height. Waivers are not
permitted with this program. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would amend

Page 21 of 27

Page 107



Page 3 of 8

the City’s Affordable Housing Regulations to provide this required incentive, with a local 
adaptation to allow 5 incentives as opposed to 4 in accordance with the City’s more 
permissive allowances for incentives.

 
        Density Bonus for 100% Affordable Projects (Total Project)
 

This proposed amendment is not mandated by state law; rather, this amendment is a local 
adaptation of AB 1763 intended to provide a similar bonus to projects within TPAs that are 
fully affordable to very low, low, and moderate income households. The Housing 
Legislation Code Update Package would amend the City’s Affordable Housing Regulations 
to provide an unlimited density bonus, 5 incentives, and an additional 3 stories or 33 feet 
to projects within TPAs that provide 100% of the total pre-density bonus and post-density 
bonus units as affordable to very low, low, and moderate income households in any 
combination.

 
        Density Bonus for Lower Income Student Housing
 

SB 1227, passed in 2017, requires a local jurisdiction to provide a density bonus of 35% 
to projects that provide 20% of the pre-density bonus units as affordable to lower income 
students, as defined by the bill. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would 
amend the City’s Affordable Housing Regulations to provide this required incentive, with a 
local adaptation to allow 2 incentives where none are provided by state law in accordance 
with the City’s more permissive allowances for incentives.

 
        Micro Unit Density Bonus
 

This proposed amendment is not mandated by state law; rather, this amendment provides 
regulatory relief for an existing City density bonus program for micro units, which must 
average no more than 600 square feet with no dwelling unit exceeding 800 square feet. 
The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would amend the City’s Affordable Housing 
Regulations to eliminate the requirement that micro unit density bonus projects comply 
with height and setback requirements, and would allow use of the program within the 
Downtown Community Planning Area once a project either maximizes the use of other 
bonus programs or earns a 3.0 FAR through other bonus programs, whichever is less, 
ensuring that other FAR Bonus programs specific to Downtown continue to be utilized.
 

        Density Bonus on FAR-Based Density Sites
 

This proposed amendment is not mandated by a modification to state law; rather, it is a 
correction to the City’s regulations to clarify how density bonuses are calculated within 
zones where the density is controlled by floor area ratio, including Downtown and the 
recently adopted mixed-use base zones. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package 
would amend the City’s Affordable Housing Regulations to clarify the method by which 
density bonuses are calculated for FAR-based density zones where the adopted land use 
plan includes an allowable density range in dwelling units per acre (i.e. the mixed use 
zones) and those that include only a maximum FAR (i.e. Downtown). Additionally, the 
amendments will clarify that incentives cannot be used to increase floor area ratio in such 
zones, which would result in an additional density bonus. 

Within Downtown, the proposed amendments would change how affordable housing 
density bonuses are calculated, since Downtown only regulates intensity through FAR limits 
and not dwelling units/acre. Currently, such bonuses are based on the Base Maximum FAR 
permitted in Figure H of the Centre City Planned District Ordinance (CCPDO). Under the 

Page 22 of 27

Page 108



Page 4 of 8

proposed change, the density bonus would be calculated based on the actual project’s FAR 
up to the Maximum FAR permitted in Figure L of the CCPDO. For instance, if a project with 
a Base Maximum FAR of 6.0 earned an additional 4.0 FAR from other FAR bonus programs 
provided Downtown to achieve a total 10.0 FAR, then the bonus for affordable housing 
would be added on top of the 10.0 FAR rather than the 6.0 FAR. This can result in the 
production of additional affordable and market rate units, as illustrated in this table utilizing 
the Affordable Housing Regulations:

FAR UNITS AFFORDABLE 
UNITS

EXISTING REGULATIONS
BASE MAXIMUM FAR 6.0 180
MAXIMUM FAR 10.0 300
AHR BONUS (60%) 3.6 108

TOTAL 13.6 408 27
PROPOSED REGULATIONS
MAXIMUM FAR 10.0 300
AHR BONUS (60%) 6.0 180

TOTAL 16.0 480 45

 Miscellaneous AHR Clean-Up Items

The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would amend the City’s Affordable Housing
Regulations to provide additional clean-up items to ensure compliance with state density
bonus law, including minor language edits and updates to the parking table.

III. Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units

The following LDC amendments address items related to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and 
Junior Accessory Dwelling Units (JADUs):

 Replacement of the Companion Unit, Junior Unit and Movable Tiny Homes Regulations
with New Accessory Dwelling Unit and Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit Regulations in Order
to Implement New State ADU and JADU Legislation

Several bills were passed at the end of 2019 which addressed ADUs and JADUs, including
AB 68, AB 587, AB 881, and SB 13. In addition to providing increased allowances for ADUs
in conjunction with multiple dwelling unit development, prohibiting the requirement of
replacement parking when garages or carports are converted to ADUs or JADUs,
prohibiting the rental of ADUs and JADUs for less than 31 days, and requiring local
jurisdictions to permit at least 1 ADU on a premises regardless of maximum lot coverage,
maximum floor area ratio, or minimum opens space requirements, the state legislation also
required local ADU and JADU ordinances to be reviewed by the California Department of
Housing and Community Development (HCD) for consistency with the state regulations. In
order to best align our local regulations with state regulations, the Housing Legislation
Code Update Package proposes to strike the existing “Companion Unit, Junior Unit and
Movable Tiny Houses” regulations in Section 141.0302 in their entirety, and replace them
with new “Accessory Dwelling Unit and Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit Regulations that
fully comply with and exceed the requirements of state law. As part of this overhaul of the
existing regulations, the local defined terms “companion unit” and “junior unit” will be

Page 23 of 27

Page 109



Page 5 of 8

replaced with “Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU)” and “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit 
(JADU)”, respectively, and their definitions will be aligned with state law. The new 
regulations will exceed the requirements of state law in regard to setbacks, by allowing 
ADUs to encroach into interior side and rear yard setbacks up to the property line, where 
state law allows the City to require a 4-foot setback in these locations. HCD reviewed the 
initial draft of the new regulations, and the proposed amendments reflect comments and 
edits received by HCD. Lastly, the recently adopted Movable Tiny Houses, which do not 
fall within the state ADU laws, will be pulled out and established as their own Separately 
Regulated Residential Use.

 Affordable ADU Incentives

AB 671, passed in late 2019, requires local jurisdictions to incentivize the construction of
deed-restricted affordable ADUs, without specific parameters or direction as to what those
incentives should be. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would include in the
Accessory Dwelling Unit and Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit regulations a new affordable
ADU incentive that would allow the construction of 1 additional ADU for every ADU deed-
restricted to very low, low, or moderate income households for a period of 15 years.
Outside of TPAs the number of bonus ADUs is limited to 1, and within TPAs there is no
limit on the number of bonus ADUs permitted.

 ADU and JADU Parking

State law, specifically Government Code Section 65852.2(d), prohibits the City from
requiring parking for ADUs in any of the following instances:

o within one-half mile walking distance of public transit;
o within a designated historic district;
o when the ADU is part of the proposed or existing primary residence or an

accessory structure (i.e. if it is attached to an existing structure);
o when on-street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant of

the ADU;
o when there is a car share vehicle within one block of the ADU.

If the above don't apply, then State law allows the City to require parking that does not 
exceed 1 space per ADU or per bedroom, whichever is less (Gov Code Section 
65852.2(a)(1)(D)(x). Due to the highly limited circumstances in which the City is allowed 
to require parking, and given the City’s desire to encourage both the construction of ADUs 
and JADUs and use of alternative mobility options, the Housing Legislation Code Update 
Package will exceed the requirements of state ADU and JADU law by simply eliminating 
parking requirements for ADUs and JADUs.

IV. Miscellaneous Housing Items

The following LDC amendments address miscellaneous housing items:

 Employee Housing (6 or Fewer)

California Health and Safety Code Section 17021.5(b) requires Employee Housing for 6 or
fewer employees to be permitted by-right in all zones that permit single-family. The
Housing Legislation Code Update Package would amend the LDC to permit Employee

Page 24 of 27

Page 110



Page 6 of 8

Housing (6 or Fewer) by-right as a Limited Use in all zones that permit single dwelling 
units.

 Residential Development Consistent with the Land Use Plan

This proposed amendment is not mandated by state law; rather, this amendment was
identified by staff as a means to provide regulatory relief and streamline the permitting
process. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would amend the General Rules
for Base Zones to allow residential and residential mixed-use development that exceeds
the allowable density of the base zone but complies with the density identified in the
adopted land use plan to be permitted by-right with a construction permit, rather than
through a Planned Development Permit process. The amendment would allow sites to
develop in accordance with the density planned and mitigated for through the land use
planning process. This streamlining provision also requires clean-up amendments to the
regulations related to Neighborhood Development Permits, Site Development Permits,
Planned Development Permits, and Affordable, In-Fill Development and Sustainable
Buildings.

 Dwelling Unit Protection Regulations

SB 330, known as the Housing Crisis Act of 2019, requires local jurisdictions to ensure that
the number of dwelling units present on a site is not reduced as a result of a single-family,
multi-family, residential mixed-use (with at least 2/3 residential), transitional housing, or
permanent supportive housing project. It further requires that “protected dwelling units”
affordable to very low income and low income households (including both deed-restricted
units and units occupied by such households without a deed-restriction in place) be
replaced with deed-restricted units affordable to very low income and low income
households. The legislation also includes provisions for relocation assistance and right of
first refusal in limited circumstances. The Housing Legislation Code Update Package would
amend the LDC to include a new Division 12 in Chapter 14, Article 3 entitled the “Dwelling
Unit Protection Regulations.” The Dwelling Unit Protection Regulations implement the
dwelling unit and protected dwelling unit replacement provisions of SB 330 precisely, with
no additional regulations or requirements. The new division would sunset on January 1,
2025, consistent with the sunsetting of SB 330.

The Housing Legislation Code Update Package was presented to stakeholder groups that included City staff 
in implementing departments, land development professionals, housing advocates, community planning 
representatives, and members of the public who participated in the meetings. The actions taken by these 
stakeholders and the Planning Commission are as follows:

 Housing Legislation Code Update Package Ad Hoc Working Group: In 2019, in accordance with
Charter Section 43(b), the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) and its subcommittee, the Code
Monitoring Team (CMT) were disbanded as a recommending body with a vote presented to decision
makers. Instead, the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) modified its operational framework to
become a monthly Ad Hoc Committee for a one-year period advising the Development Services on
a variety of process improvements. Additionally, members of the former CMT are invited to serve
on project-specific, temporary citizens’ working groups to advise the Planning Department on LDC
updates.

The Housing Legislation Code Update Package Ad Hoc Working Group was formed in early June
2020, and the proposed package of amendments was reviewed at virtual workshops on June 12th

Page 25 of 27

Page 111



Page 7 of 8

and 26th. The working group discussed the items in the Housing Legislation Code Update Package 
and provided feedback on the amendment language as presented. Understanding that the majority 
of the proposed amendments are mandated by state law, comments were limited and minor and 
have been incorporated into the package wherever possible. Consistent with the group’s function 
as an Ad Hoc Working Group, no vote or action was taken.

 Community Planners Committee (CPC):  On July 28, 2020 the Housing Legislation Code Update
Package was presented to the Community Planners Committee. The CPC voted 19-5-5 to
recommend approval of all proposed amendments with the exception of two: 1.) a proposed
development incentive for multi-family development within transit priority areas on sites less than
0.5 acre (this item has subsequently been withdrawn); and 2.) the elimination of parking
requirements for all ADUs and JADUs. On August 25, 2020 the CPC discussed the elimination of
parking requirements for all ADUs and JADUs and voted 14-8-4 to recommend approval of the
amendment as proposed.

 The Downtown Community Planning Council: On July 15, 2020 the Downtown Community Planning
Council (DCPC) reviewed the Housing Legislation Code Update and tabled discussion of the item
to their August meeting. On August 19, 2020 the DCPC voted 20-0-0 to recommend approval of
the proposed amendments.

 The Planning Commission: On August 27, 2020 the Planning Commission reviewed the Housing
Legislation Code Update to the Municipal Code and Local Coastal Program and recommended that
the City Council adopt the update as presented by a vote of 6-0-1 with Commissioner Austin
recusing. While not part of the motion, a request from Commissioner Whalen that the maximum
size of an Accessory Dwelling Unit be included in the defined term has been incorporated into the
proposed amendments.

The Housing Legislation Code Update Package implements California state housing and land development 
laws and includes several local adaptations and provisions that address local needs to streamline housing 
construction. The proposed amendments have been reviewed by stakeholders, including CPC and DCPC, 
and the Planning Commission, and all recommending bodies have supported adoption of the amendments 
as proposed. Therefore, staff recommends that the City Council approve the proposed Housing Legislation 
Code Update to the Municipal Code and Local Coastal Program.

City Strategic Plan Goal(s)/Objective(s):
Goal #3: Create and sustain a resilient and economically prosperous City. Objective #1: Create dynamic 
neighborhoods that incorporate mobility, connectivity, and sustainability. Objective #4: Prepare and 
respond to climate change. Objective #7: Increase the net supply of affordable housing.

Fiscal Considerations:
None. Costs associated with implementation of this ordinance would be covered by project applicants.

Charter Section 225 Disclosure of Business Interests:
N/A; there is no contract associated with this action.

Environmental Impact:
The CEQA and Environmental Policy Section of the Planning Department has reviewed the Housing 
Legislation Code Update amendments and conducted a consistency evaluation pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15162. Implementation of this project’s actions would not result in new significant direct, indirect, 
or cumulative impacts over and above those disclosed in the previously certified Environmental Impact 
Report (EIR) for the 2008 General Plan EIR No. 104495/SCH No. 2006091032, certified by the City Council 
on March 10, 2008, Resolution No. R-303473; the 2020 Addendum to the 2008 General Plan EIR No. 
104495/SCH No. 2006091032 for the General Plan Housing Element Update, certified by the City Council 
on June 18, 2020, Resolution No. R-313099; and the following documents, all referred to as the "CAP 

Page 26 of 27

Page 112



Page 8 of 8

FEIR": FEIR for the City of San Diego Climate Action Plan (CAP) (EIR No. 4106603/SCH No. 
2015021053), certified by the City Council on December 15, 2015 (City Council Resolution R-310176), 
and the Addendum to the CAP, certified by the City Council on July 12, 2016 (City Council Resolution R-
310595). The 2008 General Plan EIR and CAP FEIR are both "Program EIRs" prepared in compliance with 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines Section 15168.  

Previous Council and/or Committee Actions: 
This item will be heard at the Land Use and Housing Committee prior to Council.

Key Stakeholders and Community Outreach Efforts: 
Key Stakeholders include neighborhood and community planning groups, residents, visitors and property 
owners.

Mike Hansen Erik Caldwell
          
Department Director Deputy Chief Operating Officer, Smart & 

Sustainable Communities

Page 27 of 27

Page 113



Page 114



Kate Harrison
Councilmember District 4

ACTION CALENDAR
July 28, 2020

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmember Kate Harrison 

Subject: Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals 

RECOMMENDATION
Amend Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals to clarify the ordinance 
and insure adequate host responsibilities, tenant protections and remedies for violating 
the ordinance.

BACKGROUND
Berkeley has had regulations on short term rentals (STRs) since 2017, allowing STRs in 
most residential and commercial zones, as long as the host pays the transient 
occupancy tax and the unit being rented fits particular criteria (no Below Market Rate 
unit may be a short term rental, no unit may be a short term rental if it has had a No 
Fault Eviction in the past five years, etc). The City of Santa Monica also has an 
ordinance regulating STRs that places the regulatory burden on the host platform (i.e., 
AirBnB or other corporate host platforms) rather than the individual renting out their unit. 
Santa Monica placed four obligations on the host platform: collecting and remitting 
transient occupancy taxes, regularly disclosing listings and booking information to the 
City, refraining from booking properties not licensed by the City, and refraining from 
collecting fees for ancillary services.1 The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals upheld the 
legality in the case of Homeaway.com v. Santa Monica, thus confirming the rights of 
Cities to regulate short term rental host platforms.

The proposed amendments update the City of Berkeley’s STR regulations to more 
closely align with Santa Monica’s ordinance, as well as other amendments intended to 
ensure that the short term rentals in Berkeley serve the needs of the City. The primary 
five changes are as follows:

1) Regulatory burden shifted to the Host Platform

We clarify the definition of a hosting platform in 23C.22.030.H (page 2) as a 
marketplace that derives revenue from maintaining said short term rental marketplace. 
Regulating the host platform consolidates regulation and ensures that the transient 

1 Homeaway.com v Santa Monica. United State Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. No. 18-55367.

Page 1 of 11 06

Page 115



Resolution in Support of Senate Bill 54 and Assembly Bill 1080: 
The California Circular Economy and Plastic Pollution Reduction Act ACTION CALENDAR

July 28, 2020

occupancy tax owned to the City gets paid. Recommended changes to 23C.22.050.H 
and I (page 5) state that if a hosting platform is utilized to book a short term rental, both 
it and the individual host are legally responsible and are jointly liable for remitting the 
transient occupancy tax. New section 23C.22.050.I (pages 5-6) also outlines new duties 
of the hosting platform, including a regular disclosure of short term rental listings in the 
City as well as their address, length of stay, and listed prices. In addition, the hosting 
platform is responsible for ensuring that all short term rentals are appropriately licensed 
with a Zoning Certificate and adds the requirements that STRs must list the Zoning 
Certificate on any STR advertisements. The new regulations also include a safe harbor 
clause, making clear that hosting platforms that disclose listings, regularly remit the 
transient occupancy tax, and ensure the listing has a Zoning Certificate will be 
presumed to be in compliance with the chapter. 

2) Hosts can have only one residence

Individual people have the right to rent out their homes on a short term basis, but in a 
housing crisis, it is in the best interest of the City to ensure that no one has extra units 
for STRs when they could house someone long term instead. To that end, 
23C.22.030.F and 23C.22.030.I (pages 2-3) clarify that hosts may not have more than 
one principle place of residency, which may include accessory buildings or ADUs.

3) Short term rentals limited to single ADUs, single Accessory Buildings or    
Golden Duplexes not rented for the past ten years

The current ordinance limits use of Accessory Buildings or Accessory Dwelling Units to 
those that have not been rented for ten years. Additions to Section 23C.22.020.D (page 
1) expand that prohibition to include more than one Accessory Building or ADU on a 
property and prohibits short term rentals in Golden Duplexes if those units have been 
rented in the last ten years. Unpermitted use of these units would be investigated by the 
Rent Stabilization Board under Section 23C.22.060.I (page 7). 

4) Closing 14/30 day loophole

Under current law, any rental over 14 days is not a short term rental and thus does not 
require paying a transient occupancy tax. Any rental that is shorter than 30 days is not a 
long term rental and thus rent control and other rental protections are awarded to the 
tenant. As it now stands there are instances of regularly renting a unit for a period of 
time between 14 days and fewer than 30 days, thus circumventing standard regulations. 
23C.22.030.N (page 3) and 23C.22.040 (page 4) close this loophole by disallowing 
rentals between 14 and 30 days, and stating that no Zoning Certificate or advertisement 
for a short term rental may be permitted for rentals longer than 14 days.

5) Remedies

New language under 23C.22.060E and 23C.22.060.J (page 7) clarify that in the case of 
a private right of action the prevailing party is entitled to recover reasonable costs and 
attorney’s fees, thus making private right of action more financially feasible. The new 

Page 2 of 11

Page 116



Resolution in Support of Senate Bill 54 and Assembly Bill 1080: 
The California Circular Economy and Plastic Pollution Reduction Act ACTION CALENDAR

July 28, 2020

language also gives the City the right to issue administrative subpoenas to determine 
whether short term rentals are in compliance with the chapter. Both of these edits are 
intended to encourage enforcement and compliance. 

Finally, the ordinance clarifies the definitions of the terms Accessory Building, 
Accessory Dwelling Unit, and the Transient Occupancy Tax and defines a Golden 
Duplex and other clarifying language.

CONTACT PERSON
Kate Harrison, Berkeley City Councilmember, (510) 981-7140

ATTACHMENTS
Ordinance 

Page 3 of 11

Page 117



1

100Chapter 23C.22
Short-Term Rentals

23C.22.010 Purposes

The purposes of the Short-Term Rentals related regulations contained in this Chapter are:

A. To prevent long-term rental units from being replaced with Short-Term Rentals and protect affordable

housing units from conversion.

B. To preserve and protect neighborhood character and livability from nuisances that are often associated

with Short-Term Rentals.

C. To generate City revenue to share City infrastructure cost and other public expenditures by operation of

Short-Term Rentals under established standards.

D. To provide alternative forms of lodging. (Ord. 7521-NS § 1 (part), 2017)

23C.22.020 Applicability

A. Short-Term Rentals shall be allowed in residential uses in the following zoning districts: R-1, R-1A, R-2, R-

2A, R-3, R-4, R-5, R-S, R-SMU, C-DMU, C-1, C-NS, C-SA, C-T, C-W, and MU-R.

B. Short-Term Rentals shall be prohibited in below market rate (BMR) units. BMR units for Short-Term Rental

purposes refer to Dwelling Units whose rents are listed as a result of deed restrictions or agreements with

public agencies, and whose tenants must be income-qualified.

C. A property containing a Dwelling Unit protected by a No-Fault Eviction cannot operate Short-Term Rentals

for five years from eviction unless it is a single-family home that has been vacated for purposes of Owner

Occupancy in compliance with the Rent Stabilization Ordinance.

D. Short-Term Rentals are only allowed in a single, Accessory Building and in single existing Accessory

Dwelling Units (ADUs), or a Golden Duplex unless such ADUs are or have within the last 10 (ten) years

preceding the effective date of this ordinance been used for long term rentals, as defined by the requirements

of the Rent Stabilization Ordinance. Short-Term Rentals shall not be allowed in Accessory Dwelling Units

permitted after the date this Ordinance first became effective.  (Ord. 7521-NS § 1 (part), 2017)

Page 4 of 11

Page 118



2

23C.22.030 Definitions
The definitions set forth in this Section shall govern the meaning of the following terms as used in this Chapter:

A. Accessory Building: A detached building containing habitable space, excluding a kitchen, which is smaller

in size than the main building on the same lot, and the use of which is incidental to the primary use of the lot.

B. Accessory Dwelling Unit: A secondary dwelling unit that is located on a lot which is occupied by one legally

established Single-Family Dwelling that conforms to the standards of Section 23C.24. An Accessory Dwelling 

Unit must comply with local building, housing, safety and other code requirements and provide the following 

features independent of the Single-Family Dwelling: 1) exterior access to Accessory Dwelling Unit; 2) living and 

sleeping quarters; 3) a full kitchen; and 4) a full bathroom.  An Accessory Dwelling Unit also includes an 

efficiency unit and a manufactured home, as defined in the Health and Safety Code.  

C. "Adjacent Properties" mean the Dwelling Units abutting and confronting, as well as above and below, a

Dwelling Unit within which a Short-Term Rental is located.

D. “Dwelling Unit” means a building or portion of a building designed for, or occupied exclusively by, persons

living as one (1) household. 

E. “Golden Duplex” means an owner-occupied duplex that is exempt from rent control and eviction protection,

so long as it was occupied by the owner on December 31, 1979 and is currently occupied by the owner. 

F..    "Host" means any Owner and is used interchangeably in this Title with Owner Host.  An Owner Host is a 

person who is the owner of record of residential real property, as documented by a deed or other such 

evidence of ownership, who offers his or her Host Residence, or a portion thereof, as a Short-Term Rental.  For 

purposes of offering a Short-Term Rental, an Owner Host may not have more than one “Host Residence” in the 

City of Berkeley, excluding an Accessory Building or an Accessory Dwelling Unit on the same residential real 

property.  A Tenant Host is a lessee of residential real property, as documented by a lease or other such 

evidence, who offers their Host Residence, or portion thereof, as a Short-Term Rental.

G. "Host Present" or "Host Presence" means the Host is living in the Host Residence during the Short-Term

Rental period. In the case of a parcel comprised of a Single Family Dwelling and one or more authorized

Accessory Dwelling Units and/or Accessory Buildings, the Host is considered Present if he or she is present in

any Dwelling Unit on such property during the Short Term Rental period.

Page 5 of 11

Page 119



3

H.    "Hosting Platform" means a business or person that provides a marketplace through which an Owner Host 

may offer a Dwelling Unit for Short-Term Rentals. A Hosting Platform is usually, though not necessarily, 

provided through an internet-based platform. It generally allows a Dwelling Unit to be advertised through a 

website provided by the Hosting Platform and provides a means for potential Short-Term Rental Transients to 

arrange and pay for Short-Term Rentals, and from which operator of the Hosting Platform derives revenue, 

including booking fees or advertising revenues, from providing or maintaining the marketplace.  

I..    "Host Residence" means a Host’s principal place of residence as defined by whether the Host carries on 

basic living activities at the place of residence, and whether the place of residence is the Host’s usual place of 

return. Motor vehicle registration, driver’s license, voter registration or other evidence as may be required by 

the City shall be indicia of principal residency.  A Host may have only one place of principal residency in the 

City, and if that principal place of residency contains more than one dwelling unit, the principal place of 

residency shall be only one such dwelling unit.  

J.    “Host Responsibilities” means the requirements that a “Host” is obligated to comply with as set forth in this 

Ordinance.     

K.    "Local Contact" means a person designated by the Host who shall be available during the term of any 

Short-Term Rental for the purpose of (i) responding within sixty minutes to complaints regarding the condition 

or operation of the Dwelling Unit or portion thereof used for Short-Term Rental, or the conduct of Short-Term 

Rental Transients; and (ii) taking appropriate remedial action on behalf of the Host, up to and including 

termination of the Short Term Rental, if allowed by and pursuant to the Short Term Rental agreement, to 

resolve such complaints.

L.    "No Fault Eviction" means an eviction pursuant to the Ellis Act or Sections 13.76.130.A.9 or 10 of the 

Berkeley Municipal Code.

M.    "Short-Term Rental" or "STR" means the use of any Dwelling Unit, authorized Accessory Dwelling Unit or 

Accessory Building, or portions thereof for dwelling, sleeping or lodging purposes by Short-Term Rental 

Transients. Short-Term Rental shall be an accessory use to a residential use and be considered neither a 

Tourist Hotel nor a Residential Hotel for purposes of this Title. 

N. Short Term Rentals are allowed for 14 or fewer consecutive days.  Any rental for more than 14 consecutive 

days is not permitted as a Short Term Rental, and any rental for more than 14 consecutive days and less than 

30 consecutive days is not permitted in the City of Berkeley.     

Page 6 of 11

Page 120

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley13/Berkeley1376/Berkeley1376130.html#13.76.130


4

O. "Short-Term Rental Transient" or "STR Transient" means any person who rents a Dwelling Unit,

authorized Accessory Dwelling Unit or Accessory Building, or portion thereof, for 14 or fewer consecutive days.

P. “Transient Occupancy Tax” or “TOT” means local transient tax as set forth in Berkeley Municipal Code

Section 7.36.  The tax is paid by the Short-Term Rental Transient at the time payment is made for the Short- 

Term Rental.  The TOT is then remitted to the City.    

23C.22.040 Permit And License Required

Short Term Rentals are permitted only in the Host Residence. A Zoning Certificate and a Business License for 

a Short-Term Rental shall be required for each Host to operate a Short-Term Rental.  A Host must provide the 

Uniform Resource Locator (URL) — specifically, the website address — for any and all advertisements for the 

STR, if applicable, on the Zoning Certificate application.  

No Zoning Certificate may be issued to allow for a Short-Term Rental of more than 14 consecutive days, and 

no advertisement for a Short Term Rental of more than 14 consecutive days is allowed.  

23C.22.050 Operating Standards and Requirements

A Short-Term Rental is allowed only if it conforms to each of the operating standards and requirements set 

forth in this Section, and the Host complies with all Host Responsibilities set forth in this Ordinance.  

A. Proof of Host Residency.

1. An Owner-Host of a Short-Term Rental must provide documentation of Owner Host and Host

Residence status and, if applicable, Host Presence, as defined above.

2. A Tenant-Host must provide documentation of lessee status, Host Residence and Host Presence, if

applicable, as defined in subdivisions C, E, and B of Section 23C.22.030. In addition, a Tenant-Host

must present written authorization allowing for a Short-Term Rental in the Host Residence from the

building owner or authorized agent of the owner.

B. STR Duration and Required Residency Timeframes

1. When the Host is Present, the unit, or a portion thereof, may be rented as a Short-Term Rental for

an unlimited number of days during the calendar year.

2. When the Host is not Present, the number of days that the unit can be used for Short-Term Rental

purposes shall be limited to 90 days per calendar year.

Page 7 of 11

Page 121

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C22/Berkeley23C22030.html#23C.22.030


5

C.    Number of Occupants. The maximum number of Short-Term Rental Transients allowed for a Short-Term 

Rental unit shall be as provided for in the Berkeley Housing Code (BMC Chapter 19.40).

D.    Notification.

(i) Initial, one-time notification of the establishment of a Short-Term Rental by Zoning Certificate and  Business 

license, shall be provided to the residents of all Adjacent Properties. Notification shall include Host and Local 

Contact information. Additional notification shall be required within a week of updated Host  or Local Contact 

information.

(ii) In any advertisement for the STR, a Host must include the Zoning Certificate number.

E.    Enforcement Fee. For the initial enforcement period, while enforcement costs are being determined, the 

Host shall pay an additional enforcement fee in an amount equal to 2% of the rents charged by that Host, not to 

exceed the cost of the regulatory program established by this Chapter over time. Such fees may be paid by the 

Hosting Platform on behalf of the Host. After the initial enforcement period, the Council may revise the 

enforcement fee by resolution.

F.    Liability Insurance. Liability insurance is required of the Host, or Hosting Platform on behalf of the Host, in 

the amount of at least $1,000,000.

G.    Documents Provided to STR Transients. Electronic or paper copies of the Community Noise Ordinance 

and Smoke-Free Multi-Unit Housing Ordinance must be provided to STR Transients upon booking and upon 

arrival.

H.    Transient Occupancy Tax. (“TOT”).  The TOT shall be collected on all Short-Term Rentals.  The Host is 

responsible for collecting and remitting the TOT, in coordination with any Hosting Platform, if utilized, to the 

City. If a Hosting Platform collects payment for rentals, then both it and the Host shall have legal responsibility 

for collection and remittance of the TOT.    

I.    Housing Platform Responsibilities. 

(i)  Subject to applicable laws, A Hosting Platform shall disclose to the City on a regular basis each rental listing 

located in the City, the names of the person or persons responsible for each such listing, the address of each 

such listing, the length of stay for each such listing, and the price paid for each booking transaction.  

Page 8 of 11

Page 122

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley19/Berkeley1940/Berkeley1940.html#19.40


6

(ii)   A Hosting Platform shall not complete any booking transaction for any STR unless the Host has a valid 

Zoning Certificate at the time the Hosting Platform receives a fee the booking transaction. 

(iii)   A Hosting Platform shall not collect or receive a fee for a STR unless the Host has a valid Zoning 

Certificate at the time the Hosting Platform would otherwise be entitled to receive a fee for the booking 

transaction.

(iv)   Safe Harbor: A Hosting Platform operating exclusively on the internet, which operates in compliance with 

subsections (i), (Ii) and (iii) above, shall be presumed to be in compliance with this Chapter.  

J.    Housing Code Compliance. Any building or portion thereof used for Short-Term Rentals shall comply with 

the requirements of the Berkeley Housing Code (BMC Chapter 19.40).

K. Payment of Additional Taxes:  The Host shall pay all City taxes and fees owed, in addition to the TOT, if 

applicable, in a timely manner.  100

L.     The Host shall be responsible for listing on any rental ad the Zoning Certificate number. The Host shall 

also provide both the Business License number, if required pursuant to Chapter 9.04, and Zoning Certificate for 

the STR to the City and/or a vendor hired by the City to administer this Chapter, upon request. 

23C.22.060 Remedies

A.    Compliance with Second-Response Ordinance. The Host shall comply with the Second Response 

Ordinance (BMC Chapter 13.48). The Host shall be prohibited from operating Short-Term Rentals for one year 

upon issuance of a third violation affidavit.

B.    Violation of any provision of this Chapter is punishable as set forth in Chapters 1.20 and 1.28.

C.    Violation of any provision of this Chapter is hereby declared to be a public nuisance subject to abatement 

under Chapters 1.24, 1.26 and 23B.64.

D.    In any enforcement action by the City, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and costs; provided that, pursuant to Government Code Section 38773.5, attorneys’ fees shall 

only be available in an action or proceeding in which the City has elected, at the commencement of such action 

or proceeding, to seek recovery of its own attorneys’ fees. In no action or proceeding shall an award of 

Page 9 of 11

Page 123

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley19/Berkeley1940/Berkeley1940.html#19.40
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley09/Berkeley0904/Berkeley0904.html#9.04
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley13/Berkeley1348/Berkeley1348.html#13.48
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0120/Berkeley0120.html#1.20
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0128/Berkeley0128.html#1.28
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0124/Berkeley0124.html#1.24
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0126/Berkeley0126.html#1.26
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley23B/Berkeley23B64/Berkeley23B64.html#23B.64
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=38773.5


7

attorneys’ fees to a prevailing party exceed the amount of reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by the City in the 

action or proceeding.

E. Any resident of the City may bring a private action for injunctive or other relief to prevent or remedy a

public nuisance as defined in this Chapter, or to prevent or remedy any other violation of this Chapter.  No

action may be brought under this subdivision unless and until the prospective plaintiff has given the City and

the prospective defendant(s) at least 30 days written notice of the alleged public nuisance and the City has

failed to initiate proceedings within that period, or after initiation, has failed to diligently prosecute. The

prevailing party in any such action shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney’s fees.

F. Any occurrence at a Short-Term Rental unit that constitutes a substantial disturbance of the quiet

enjoyment of private or public property in a significant segment of a neighborhood, such as excessive noise or

traffic, obstruction of public streets by crowds or vehicles, public intoxication, the service to or consumption of

alcohol by minors, fights, disturbances of the peace, litter or other similar conditions, constitutes a public

nuisance.

G. It shall be a public nuisance for any STR Transient of a Short-Term Rental unit where an event is taking

place to refuse access to, or interfere with access by, Fire Department or other City personnel responding to an

emergency call or investigating a situation.

H. Notwithstanding any provision of Chapter 13.48 to the contrary, a public nuisance as defined in this

Section shall be subject to remedies set forth in Section 23C.22.060. (Ord. 7521-NS § 1 (part), 2017)

I. A violation of this Chapter by a Host Owner who offers or rents a rent controlled unit, multiple ADU’s,

multiple Accessory Buildings, or a Golden Duplex, may be reported to the Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board for 

investigation by the Board.  Upon report of a violation to the Rent Stabilization Board, the Board is required to 

provide a written report of the investigation within 30 days. Where a violation is found, the Rent Board will 

immediately provide the written report supporting its finding of a violation to the City Attorney’s office for 

remedial action by the City.  

J. The City may issue and serve administrative subpoenas as necessary to obtain specific information

regarding Short-Term Rentals located in the City, including but not limited to, the names of the persons 

responsible for each such listing, the address of each such listing, the length of stay for each such listing and 

the price paid for each stay, to determine whether the STR and related listing complies with this Chapter.  Any 

subpoena issued pursuant to this section shall not require the production of information sooner than 30 days 

Page 10 of 11

Page 124

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley13/Berkeley1348/Berkeley1348.html#13.48
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C22/Berkeley23C22060.html#23C.22.060


8

from the date of service.  A person or entity that has been served with an administrative subpoena may seek 

judicial review during that 30 day period.  

Page 11 of 11

Page 125



Page 126


	2023-05-01 Agenda - Land Use
	2023-05-01 Item 01 Minutes - February 16, 2023
	2023-05-01 Item 02 Tenant Habitability Plan and Amendments to Relocation Ordinance
	2023-05-01 Item 03 Study to support Housing Element commitment
	2023-05-01 Item 04 Amending BMC Chapter 13.84 Relocation Assistance
	2023-05-01 Item 05 Incentives for Equitable and Affordable Middle Housing
	2023-05-01 Item 06 Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22  Short Term Rentals



